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Thursday, September 30, 2010


--- On commencing at 9:44 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning.  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir, there are a few for me.  I have some undertaking answers which we have filed this morning.  I would like to summarize them for the Board.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  The company has complied with the following undertakings this morning:  J4.1, J4.5, J4.6, J5.3, J5.5, J5.8, J5.9, J6.4, a confidential undertaking JX6.5, J6.7, J6.8, J6.9.


Now, there are a couple of other matters, sir, that I would like to just clear up before we begin this morning, if I could, with Mr. Struthers, a few things that -- a few clarifications he would like to make.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  I can advise the Board that Mr. Struthers is suffering from some laryngitis this morning, so I am going to ask him to try to speak up and hopefully we can hear him.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Join the club, Mr. Struthers.  I hope you didn't catch it here.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not sure where I caught it.  I think children may be the responsible parties.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Always blame it on the children.


[Laughter]
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MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Struthers, there are a couple of points which came up last day, which I understand you have thought about, and there are some modifications you would like to bring to the Board's attention.


First of all, I think you were asked by Mr. Thompson about -- I'm sorry I don't have the transcript reference, but I think we will all remember it -- about a meeting which you thought you had with the regulatory committee of the board prior to the board meeting of May 13th, 2010.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I wasn't actually at that meeting, which is why my recollection is a bit fuzzy about it.


The actual meeting was not held prior to the May 13th board meeting.  There was a special meeting of the board.  It was on April 28th, and that special meeting -- right after that special meeting of the board, there was a special meeting of the regulatory committee.


And it was at that meeting on April 28th that they went through the distribution rate decision and did it line by line.  But I wasn't at that meeting.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.


Now, Mr. Warren questioned you last day, as well, and he gave you some figures to take subject to check, and I believe it is correct to say that some of the figures put to you were not accurate, but close enough that it is not a problem.  But there is one you would like to just correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I believe Mr. Warren was talking about capital, and I think he said in the distribution decision that the approved capital spending in 2010/2011 was some $858 million.  I think that is the amount that is on the record.


I believe the actual amount for 2011 is closer to $580 million.  So there is a difference.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  I am not sure what importance that may have, but we thought we should correct it because of the size of the discrepancy.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Two other matters I would like to just deal with you very briefly.  First of all, my friend, Mr. Thompson, was questioning you about slide number 8, I think it was - I think it is slide number 8 - in confidential filing KX2.6, which was the comparison of total bill impact for a 1,000 kilowatt customer.  Do you recall that, Mr. Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.  It is slide number 8.


MR. ROGERS:  That is a confidential slide, I know.  We have a fresh slide this morning, I see.  Can you explain to us -- for filing.


Can you explain to us why you thought it appropriate to provide us a fresh slide for that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I'm sorry, we had been requested to do an analysis of the bill for September 2009 and a comparative analysis of an average residential bill for 2010 and provide that information.  We did do that.


When we went back and looked at the slide to compare it to those numbers, we found there was a difference.  And, in fact, there is about a $20 difference, so went back and tried to understand what it was.


And what we missed in the slide number 8 in the material that we provided to the Board was the fixed component of distribution.


Now, the slide was only intended for illustrative purposes for the Board.  It was to give the Board some understanding of the percentage rate increases that we were looking at.  It wasn't supposed to be specific dollars.  That wasn't the intent.


So we have gone back and we have -- or we are going to provide you with a revised slide which has the correct numbers in it, and, again, they would be consistent with what we just gave you for the September 2009 and September 2010 actual bills.


MR. ROGERS:  If I could just -- before we mark that, I can tell the Board that Exhibit J6.4 is the undertaking which provides the actual bills for September 1, 2010 as compared with September 1, 2009, based on the consumption of the average residential customer at that snapshot point in time.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is my understanding, yes.  It is at that point of time.  If there is a difference, it is likely related to rate riders, which we hadn't factored into in our graph.


MR. ROGERS:  It is R1 residential customer.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  It sets it all out in the undertaking, but we thought it important to clear this up first this morning.  Could we have an exhibit number for the amended, I guess, slide number 8, please, a confidential exhibit number?


MS. LEA:  KX7.1.  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. KX7.1:  AMENDED SLIDE 8 FROM KX2.6

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Now, there is one last item.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rogers.  I don't think that has been given to my friends yet.  We had copies for the Board and for the Staff.


MR. ROGERS:  I understood there were extra copies there.


MS. LEA:  Oh, I believe they are going to be distributed momentarily.


MR. ROGERS:  If not, we can certainly arrange that.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.  They will be distributed momentarily.  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, there is one last matter before I conclude, Mr. Struthers.  Undertaking, I think it was, J6.14 was a request by, I believe, Mr. Thompson to advise as to whether Hydro One plans to include a total bill analysis of the type that he is suggesting to your board in the future.


Have you thought about that and do you have an answer?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We would obviously respond to what the Hydro One board wants to see in terms of material.  I am not aware that they would want to see this material.  As I say, the relevant -- they were looking at was the transportation and distribution part of the bill that Hydro One is responsible for, and they were looking at that from a point of view of what type of changes could one expect over a period of time.


I don't have any better information than is publicly available with respect to cost of power, or any other item on the bill, other than the part that Hydro One is familiar with.


So we don't intend to provide anything more than what the board -- the Hydro One board asked for, and that was sort of that analysis.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, sir.  They are available for further questioning.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Crocker, I think you are next up; is that right?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes, Mr. Chair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just to remind the witnesses, you are still under oath.  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, I assume we will get a chance to come back to some of the documents that have been produced this morning, just to understand them?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When you raise them, we will deal with it, Mr. Thompson.  Thank you.


MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Chairman, I put together a cross-examination compendium that is being handed out.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  You were listening.


MR. CROCKER:  I was listening.  We will see how well I executed the plan, but I was listening.


I will also be referring to K2. -- Exhibit K2.2, which is the report of the Board, the regulatory treatment of infrastructure investment in connection with the rate regulated activities of distribution and transmitters and

-- distributors, rather, and transmitters in Ontario.  I may be referring to that, and I may also be referring to K2.4.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Crocker, just looking at your compendium, I don't see anything in there that is not yet on the record in this proceeding.  Am I correct?


MR. CROCKER:  There may be one --


MS. LEA:  I am just trying to figure out if I need to give it an exhibit number as being new evidence, or...


MR. CROCKER:  Well, I will point out to you that everything is there -- everything that is there has been referred to before, except for the last piece of material under tab 2.


And it is order No. 679A of FERC.  It was referred to in K2.3, which is the only reason I referenced K2.3.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Well, Mr. Chairman, with these compendia, then, perhaps with respect to this one we should give it an exhibit number.  And it is sometimes useful even just for identification purposes, even though there is no new evidence.  So K7.2, please, for the compendium from AMPCO.  Thank you.

EXHIBIT No. K7.2:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Panel, my name is David Crocker.  I am representing AMPCO.


There are five areas of questions I have.  They all come from matters which were deferred to you by panel number 1 in my questioning of them.  And the compendium deals with each area.


The first item in the compendium is the transcript reference where I asked the questions and they were deferred.  I don't think it is necessary to refer to them, necessarily.


The first area deals with the requirement of the Minister, then-Minister of the -- of Energy, his letter to Hydro One of September 21, 2009.  And that is -- that letter is the second piece of information in that compendium.  Particularly, I am interested in the Minister's suggestion to Hydro One, as you can see on page 2 under item 4, that Hydro One, in C:

"Use its best efforts to enter into those commercially reasonable arrangements."


And D:

"Identify projects as appropriate where the planning, development and implementation of the project would be better accomplished by a qualified third party, other than Hydro One."


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.


And the questions which weren't answered by panel 1, which I will put to you, are these.


Has Hydro One identified any potential partners for these projects?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We haven't identified any particular partner for any particular projects.  However, having said that, we have had considerable interest from a large number of parties, both financial, commercial, industrial, who would be interested in doing something with us, and we have had discussions sort of conceptually around what that might be.  And by that, I mean companies from North America, Canada, internationally.  There is a great degree of interest.


MR. CROCKER:  And have you identified -- in those discussions, have you matched interest with particular projects, or areas of interest with parts of projects?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Not really.  We haven't got that far in the process, partly because we haven't got that far in understanding sort of what the projects might look like.


We have had parties that are interested in providing financing, and you can guess who they might be.  But we have also had parties who are interested in providing engineering work, parties who are interested in providing a variety of things.


And it is sort of a how do you best fit that, given that you really don't know what it is that you are trying to do.  So they're very preliminary discussions.


The other thing that we have to think about is what type of process would we have to run in order to be able to demonstrate that we had chosen the right partner.


So there are a lot of things that would have to be undertaken before we even got to the point of selecting a partner.


MR. CROCKER:  And just to make it clear, to underline what you have just said, you haven't gotten to that point yet?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, we haven't gotten to that point yet.


MR. CROCKER:  And have you identified priorities which might best be discharged by third parties?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, we haven't -- like -- as I said, it is very preliminary thinking.  We are still trying to understand some of the scopes of the projects.  So before we even can identify the scopes of the projects, it is very difficult for us to be able to identify a partner on top of that.


If we were going to run through this process, because of procurement rules, the question is:  Would we have to run an RFP?  What would that RFP process look like?  What type of scope would we looking for?  Would be trying to do a scope with respect to a particular project?  Would we be trying to do a scope with respect to a series or suite of projects?


There is a lot of elements that one would have to think their way through before you could actually make a decision as to which partner, even what type of partner you might want to bring to the table.


But to be clear, we had been talking about partnership concepts since April 2009.  So it is not something that we are adverse to doing.  It is just that we don't have any particular identified work that we could potentially put out to partner or find a partner for.  But we have had a lot of interest, lots of interest.


MR. CROCKER:  In the Board's Policy in Exhibit K2.4, they once again underline -- I don't think you need go to it specifically, but if you wish to, it is on pages 1 and further on in the document on --


MR. ROGERS:  Let's give the witnesses a copy, if I could, Mr. Chair.  They can borrow ours.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Thank you.


MR. CROCKER:  The Board is encouraging partnerships as well.  Particularly on page 1, the bullet-pointed sentences or comments on page 1 make it clear that the Board is supporting the notion of partnerships.


Beyond the general discussions that you have had and the conceptual discussions that you have described here, are you doing anything to -- or perhaps I should ask you an initial question.


Do you get the sense that you need to do -- you need to do anything to encourage partnerships?  Or are your doors being beaten down?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We have had no shortage of interested parties who would like to chat with us, and have spoken to us.


MR. CROCKER:  Are you doing anything to encourage those who have beaten down your doors to get involved in -- with Hydro One in anything in particular or in general?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I think -- and I am now speaking for a number of people -– well, I am talking for the people that have spoken to us, and that is I think they're looking for some understanding as to what projects might be proceeding.


So I think the first thing that people are looking for is to understand what might be built and then to figure out how best to do it.


MR. CROCKER:  Are you not comfortable that you are at the point yet where you know, at least to some extent, what has to be built?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The only large project -- and to be fair, most people are interested in projects that exceed about $500 million in value, and the reason for that is because there is the economies of scale and economies of dollars, the economies of investment, particularly for some of the large investors they're looking at where else they can place money.


So they need to be able to make a fairly large investment.  If you are going to make an investment in one of these types of projects, then you are looking for some form of partnership structure and it has to be a relatively large investment.


So there are a limited number of those investments, potentially.  Right now there is no clarity as to what those investments might be, and what projects are going to proceed and what projects won't proceed.


I think before you can say that a partnership discussion would progress further, it would be necessary to understand what projects would likely progress.


MR. CROCKER:  And you were about to say -- before you reversed yourself -- that there was one project, I believe, that is going forward, where --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, the only current project is Bruce-to-Milton.


MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And have partnerships been encouraged or developed with respect to Bruce-to-Milton?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We have had interest from First Nations around partnerships in that particular project, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  And had anything been done to encourage that partnership, was the question.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Nothing has been done to discourage it.


MR. CROCKER:  I take it, then, from that answer, that nothing has been done to encourage it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We have ongoing discussions with First Nations all the time, but I don't have the -- they would have to come to us.  That's...


MR. CROCKER:  And they -- I gather from what you have said that they have come to you?


MR. STRUTHERS:  They have come to us on a conceptual basis, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  And then I ask, again:  Have you done -- has Hydro One done anything to encourage a partnership?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We are certainly interested in talking.  We haven't turned around and said "no".


MR. CROCKER:  But there is -- all right.  Nothing concrete has come out of these discussions yet?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be a fair description of where we are, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I don't have the -- I didn't include the reference in the evidence in the compendium.  Oh, I did.  I lied.  I just didn't realize I did.


If you look at the last page of the material at tab 1, you will see a list of projects which have been discussed at this hearing and which are being proposed by Hydro One at one level or other of sort of readiness.


Do you see that list?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And I asked the same series of questions to Mr. Gregg.


The only projects on this list which Hydro One does not propose to work on are three that won't be going forward.  Do you agree with that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, perhaps you can identify those projects for me.


MR. CROCKER:  They are the ones with zeros along the way, 5, 19 and 20.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Mr. Sommerville.  I may be mistaken.  I don't remember somebody saying they weren't going to be going ahead, ever.


MR. CROCKER:  I don't mean "ever", I just meant within the time period we are discussing here.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I think that is...


MR. CROCKER:  Well, let me put it to you another way.  On this list, there are only three projects - they're at numbers 5, 19 and 20 - where Hydro One doesn't propose any work; is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I believe 20 there is actually some spending.  That is to do with schedule B, which is to address the short-circuit capability.


MR. CROCKER:  Right.  Okay.  So then I am giving you more credit than you are due.  There are only two projects on this list where you don't -- where Hydro One doesn't propose to do any work?


MR. STRUTHERS:  And you're talking within the time frame 2010 to 2012?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe, based on the numbers, that's correct.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Can I take it, then, that you have not entered into any concrete discussions with any partners about doing work on these projects where Hydro One proposes to do the work?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I indicated before, we have had conceptual discussions about people's interest in working with us as a partner in the province of Ontario to build transmission or enabler lines, but nothing has progressed from discussions.


MR. CROCKER:  And so nobody else's work is identified on this chart, on this -- this chart.  Only Hydro One's work?


MR. STRUTHERS:  These, I believe, were taken from the letter from the Minister.  I think that is where the schedule of items comes from.


MR. CROCKER:  And Hydro One is proposing to do work on all of them; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you go back to the letter.


MR. CROCKER:  Uh-huh.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, if you go back to the letter from the Minister dated September the 21st, if you go to page 3 of that document, the first paragraph, last sentence, it says:

~"In light of that, I would expect that Hydro One will develop a comprehensive implementation plan to achieve these objectives."


So we were sort of asked to look at some of these projects.  That is why the schedule was attached.


MR. CROCKER:  I am not suggesting anything nefarious or untoward here.  All I want to clarify is that Hydro One intends to work on all of these projects, and no partners are at this point identified.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, if I look at what the Board has come out with in the last year, the August 26th decision or policy decision from the Board quite clearly indicates they want a competitive process with respect to new transmission build, and I think also enabler lines.


To the extent new transmission build or enabler lines are identified within these projects, my expectation would be that that would supersede what is in this letter and that it would be a competitive process.


MR. CROCKER:  To follow up that line of thinking - and I asked Mr. Gregg this, as well - do you not think that with the development work for which you are asking for funding that you have described in this table, that you get a competitive, to use your expression, advantage over others in doing this work?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not sure we would have a competitive advantage.  We would have a competitive advantage for being in the province of Ontario.  We understand the issues around trying to build in the province of Ontario.  We have relationships with First Nations.  Arguably, we have a competitive advantage for being in the province of Ontario to start with.


MR. CROCKER:  And this -- and the development funds for which you are seeking and the work that you will do as a result will further that advantage?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, the projects have effectively come to a stop, waiting some direction from a third party as to how we should proceed.


MR. CROCKER:  That is another issue, but I will leave it and, I think, move on to my second point.  Thank you, Mr. Struthers.


I want to talk about CWIP --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Maybe my colleague can be helpful.


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  I was just going to point out that future amounts spent would still be subject to a prudency review within the context of the Board's policy, anyway.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay, thank you.


I would like to move on and talk about CWIP.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  And the material to which I will make reference is at tab 2 of the compendium.


I asked Mr. Gregg this.  I will ask you.  The question I asked was:

"Using the American context here, has Hydro One considered lowering your request for return on equity in response to your request for CWIP?"


And Mr. Gregg answered "no".  He answered, "We have not".


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CROCKER:  And my question to you is:  Why not?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We are structured as a commercial company.  We are a third party borrower.  Our shareholders are the people of the province of Ontario.  Their expectation from us is to earn a reasonable rate of return.  The reasonable rate of return is set by the Ontario Energy Board.


I think their expectation of us would be that we would proceed in a commercial manner and that we would proceed to obtain the appropriate returns on the investment that they, the people of Ontario, have made in the company, and that is -- when you look at this, if I am investing money into a project, I am investing not only debt costs, but I am also investing equity costs.  And I have to be able to make, for my shareholders, a reasonable rate of return, and the Ontario Energy Board has identified what that rate should be.


MR. CROCKER:  With respect to CWIP particularly, however, if you are granted your request for CWIP, you would agree with me, would you not, that your risk with respect to this project decreases, and therefore it makes sense that your return on equity should also decrease?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, what is unusual about this project is the nature of the project itself.


So what has ended up -- because of the push to get the project done by a certain date, a lot of money was invested upfront in terms of purchasing and acquiring materials.  So what you have in this project is an unusual structure, where you have a lot of money being spent upfront before you actually start doing the construction work.


So the way it works with AFUDC charges is it is capitalizing on those monies.  If, therefore, the project ends up being delayed, because those moneys have already been spent, the interest charges -- because they're cumulative in nature -- grow quickly.  Would be a way of describing it.


What CWIP approach tries do is to try to keep the costs down so that the project doesn't explode in terms of cost as a result of any delays.  And the intent here was to try and keep ratepayers from having to end up carrying a large burden because of a delay, because of the nature of the project itself.


As well, if you look at what the Board had talked about in terms of its policy with respect to green projects, this project actually follows that; 55 percent of the project is actually related to green power.  You could argue 100 percent, depending on your view on nuclear.


But the concept here was that this frees up green energy.  It falls within the purview of what the Ontario Energy Board has described potentially as a competitive project, because it is a new transmission line.  We look at this as a -- if you want, almost a test case as to the Board's policies with respect to using CWIP.


MR. CROCKER:  Let's go back.  Let me ask you a follow-up question as a result of the answer that you just gave.  And the material isn't in here because I didn't expect this answer.


But -- and I asked Mr. Gregg this and he agreed with me, and I don't have the reference.  I will get it at some point this morning.


Bruce-to-Milton is on schedule, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, it is.  But I think my colleagues may have alluded to some of the potential issues associated with that property.


MR. CROCKER:  Right.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Right.


MR. CROCKER:  They agreed, however, as you just have, it is on schedule.


MR. STRUTHERS:  To the extent we are in control, it is on schedule.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  And you would also agree with me, would you not, that the American experience with CWIP is that it is not uncommon where CWIP -- on the occasions when CWIP is awarded, that the return on equity is moderated?


Take a look at the FERC order if you have any doubt.  It is the last item of material under tab 2, the top of the second page of the document, which is page 47 of whatever they're referring to, the sentence which begins, second line:  "However, we agree with the California commission."


Read that sentence, and then part of paragraph 67, where they describe how CWIP is not routine, and they talk about the lowering of risk.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, the witness can answer the question, but --


MR. CROCKER:  Well, then perhaps he should.  Perhaps he should.


MR. ROGERS:  Will my friend let counsel make an interjection, please?


This is talking about an increased rate of return on investments, as I read the last paragraph, incentive returns.  And then it says:

"The applicant will be required to justify a higher rate-of-return under the revised nexus test."


So I just question whether it is -- if the witness can answer the question, go ahead.


MR. CROCKER:  He will probably do better with your help.  Maybe he won't.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that was the objective.  But...


MR. ROGERS:  To be fair --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is right.  As we read the document, Mr. Crocker, it is not entirely clear exactly what is being suggested by the commission.


MR. CROCKER:  I understand.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I think you put the document to the witness, and I think to ask the witness to interpret the document may be taking it a little bit too far at this instance.


MR. ROGERS:  I only object –- or interjected because we just got this this morning and they haven't had a chance to look at it.


MR. CROCKER:  That's fine.  It is what it is, and I don't think I need an answer to the question.  Thank you.


If we could go on to the third issue, then, please, you would agree with me, Mr. Struthers, that Hydro One's request -- that Hydro One has reduced their request for transmission capital for 2011 of $111 million and in 2012 for $256 million?  And this comes from Undertaking J2.2, I believe.


It is at -- it is also –- it is reproduced, the last document in tab 3.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see it.  It has been pointed out to me.  The answer is yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that because of that reduction, there may be -- Hydro One may have less of a need for CWIP on Bruce-to-Milton?  You may

-- your resources may be less stressed?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will agree with you from the point of view of our ability to go out and borrow, because those items won't be in rate base, then I won't have to borrow for those items, yes.


But I think, to be clear, I think what Hydro One is proposing is that if the -- we are proposing a CWIP treatment on Bruce-to-Milton.  If the Board deems that that is not the appropriate treatment for the Bruce-to-Milton project, it was our understanding that the costs associated with the project were going to be deal with in this hearing, therefore that we would seek the approval of the Board to use the AFUDC basis, but -- which has a projected in-service date of December 31st, 2012, and that the price for that would be what is currently approximated to be $762.9 million.


So does that help you?


MR. CROCKER:  I understood your answer originally.  That's fine.  Thank you.


Let's go on to the fourth issue, then.  I want to talk further about Bruce-to-Milton and what you are, in fact, requesting.


I am just trying to decide how we describe this.  I guess the memo, the May 13th, 2010 memo signed by Peter Gregg and Laura Formusa to the Board comes from, I think, a CME interrogatory.


In any event, in this document, the -- in the first couple of bullets, it is said to the Board that -- I will just read it, starting with the second sentence:

"The transmission business revenue requirement for 2011 has been reduced by 57 million, and is now 1,444,000, and 2012 has been reduced by $65 million and it is now 1.547 billion.  The resulting increase in transmission rates is now 15.7 percent versus 21.5 percent in 2011 and 9.8 percent in 2012 versus 9.1 percent.  This represents an estimated increase in total customer bills of 1.2 percent in 2011 and 0.7 percent in 2012."


And then you go further.  I have read that correctly, haven't I?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, you have.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you could flip over the page, please, to table 2 -- a couple of pages, to table 2.  Are you with me?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm sorry, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  These numbers are, to some extent, depicted with others, and your total revenue requirement, then, for 2011 is $188...  I'm sorry, the difference in your total revenue requirement for 2011 is $188.2 million as a result of your reduced ask; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm sorry, could you say that again?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Let me take it back.  As I understand table 2, it compares the total revenue requirement from the Board-approved amount of a billion-two-hundred-and-fifty -- these numbers -- a 1,257,000,000 in 2010 to 1,445,000,000 in 2011, and shows the difference in total revenue requirements between 2011 and 2011.  Do you agree with me?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  That is what the table shows, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And that difference is $188.2 million?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is the number on the table.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Similarly, if we go farther down the page, the revenue requirement between 2011 and 2012 are shown, the differences - that is, the reduced amounts - and the difference is $188.1 million; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, you are still on table 2?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And you are looking at rates, revenue requirement, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Right.  I'm sorry, I should have been looking at table -- the table on page -- table 4 on page 5.  Sorry.  And I gave you the wrong number.


MR. ROGERS:  It should be 102 million.


MR. CROCKER:  Yes, it is $102 million.


MR. ROGERS:  The witnesses have the right table.  I was looking at the memo.  I was in the wrong table entirely.


MR. STRUTHERS:  On table 4, at the line which talks about total revenue requirement, it talks about difference.  The number is 102.


MR. CROCKER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And what I want to understand from you is how your CWIP -- your request for -- your CWIP request in Bruce-to-Milton factors in to the $188.2 million and $102 million respectively, okay?


If, once again, we go over the page -- with the Board's indulgence for two seconds.  I'm sorry.  Thanks.


If we go over the page again and we look at table 2 from -- a different table 2, but the page headed with the heading "Table 2", this is the Bruce-to-Milton accelerated cost recovery of CWIP request; correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.  You're referring to table 2 from Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5?


MR. CROCKER:  Right.  If you look at the bottom, in 2011 you are asking for $43.6 million, and in 2012 you are asking for 26?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And that is the revenue requirement impact for those two years for Bruce-to-Milton?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you were not granted that request for CWIP, if we go back to the original memo that we talked about, the first paragraph in the memo -- actually, the second, a bullet point, second bullet point in the memo -- how would the lack of CWIP affect the 15.7 percent increase in transmission rates you are asking for and the 9.8 percent that you are asking for for 2012?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, with respect to 2012, the project would come into service in 2012.  So there would be an increase as a result of recovery in rates of the rate base.


So there would be an offset in 2012, assuming that we didn't go with a CWIP, but went with an AFUDC number.  So it is not just -- it just doesn't come out.  There is a netting.


MR. CROCKER:  Talk to me about 2011, then, first.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  So you are asking:  What is the percentage reduction?


MR. CROCKER:  No.  What percent would you be asking for if there were -- if you weren't granted CWIP, the increase in transmission rates?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you hold on a second, I just want to chat with or confer with my colleagues for a second.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am going to refer you to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 122.


MR. CROCKER:  Again, please?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will be slow.  Sorry.  Exhibit I.


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Tab 1.


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Schedule 122, page 2 of 5 of that exhibit.


MR. CROCKER:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Table 1 shows that the revenue requirement impact with CWIP in rate base is 3.1 percent.


MR. CROCKER:  Correct.  However, that 3.1 percent is not, I don't think, a percentage of the increase you are asking for.  It is the percentage of rate base, the full rate base.  It is not, I don't think, a percentage of the increase in transmission rates that you are asking for that is described in the memo, the May 13th memo.


And I give you a follow-up question, just so that you can think about this one as well, if you want.  Can we -- If you are right, can we just subtract that 3.1 from 15.7?


MR. STRUTHERS:  How about I will take an undertaking to confirm to you whether that would be the case, or not?


MR. CROCKER:  Fine.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's approach it that way.  Thank you.


MR. CROCKER:  That's fine.


MS. HELT:  J7.1.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I think that is to express as a percentage of the rate increase for 2011 and 2012, the impact of CWIP were it to be rejected.


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  to CALCULATE IMPACT OF REJECTION OF CWIP AS PERCENTAGE OF RATE INCREASE FOR 2011 AND 2012.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that has been represented in an interrogatory response at 3.1 percent, but that calculation will be the subject matter of the undertaking.  Thank you.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  That describes it just fine.


All right.  Let's go on to Issue 5, then.


You have described in the evidence the advantages that Hydro One -- by "you" I mean Hydro One -- have described in the evidence the advantages that you see to CWIP, and you have mentioned them here as well.


Those advantages require -- for those results to occur, your customers are going to be required to pay money -- if I could describe it this way -- pay money upfront; that's correct, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  The way that CWIP would work is that the increase associated with CWIP would start to occur in 2011, versus in 2012 when the project goes into rate base.


MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And despite that fact, you have suggested that there is an overall benefit to your customers of using the CWIP approach; that's correct, as well, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Both from a revenue requirement perspective and also from a cost perspective.


MR. CROCKER:  Have you done anything to talk to your customers to determine whether they, in fact, would want to take advantage of the benefit, in light of the fact that they are going to be required to pay money upfront?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I guess the question is:  Have we gone back to our customers to ask them whether they want to pay less in total and have a project that costs less?


The answer --


MR. CROCKER:  Well, maybe we can take it bit by bit.


Have you gone back and talked to your customers about either of those two ways of describing the CWIP issue?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, we haven't.  We are putting a proposal in front of the Board for Board's contemplation and decision.


MR. CROCKER:  But don't you think you would want to know whether it -- the customer would like to take advantage of the opportunity that you are giving them, rather than assuming that they do?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not assuming anything.  What I put in front of the Board is an opportunity to make a decision as to whether they would like to use the CWIP methodology, which is a methodology that the Board has proposed, which could have an advantage to customers, from both a cost and a net-present-value and a revenue-requirement perspective.


That is what we have put in front of the Board.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess, if I may, Mr. Crocker, with respect, that may be -- that may emerge with clarity in the argument stage.


So if the customers do adopt that proposition, they will say so in argument.  And if they don't, they will say why they don't.


MR. CROCKER:  I agree, and thank you.  That's fine.  I just wanted to find out whether customers had been surveyed and checked.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Thank you, panel.


MR. ROGERS:  May I just point out, Mr. Chair, that in the evidence, that there was stakeholdering sessions here?  And I do believe this was brought up to them, but it is in the evidence, whatever was discussed.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Thank you, panel.  I have nothing further.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Those are your questions, Mr. Crocker?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Shepherd?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


For the benefit of the Board, I don't think I have more than an hour, and I am going to start with a focus on IFRS.


You are the right people for that, Mr. Struthers?  Are you "Mr. IFRS" today?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would suggest that the panel can help you.  I am not "Mr. IFRS."  My colleague, Mr. Fraser is "Mr. IFRS."


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to start -- and Mr. Chairman, I do apologize for not having a compendium.  I just didn't get to it before finishing the cross.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That deficiency is duly noted, Mr. Shepherd.


[Laughter.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to start by asking you to go -- Mr. Fraser, I guess -- to School Energy Coalition No. 6, which is Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 6.


MR. FRASER:  I've got that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is your MD&A for June 30th, right?  The attachment?


MR. FRASER:  Okay.  I will look -- I've got my personal copy.  It doesn't have the MD&A attached, so if I need it, I can --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is where my questions are going to be, indeed.


MR. FRASER:  All right.  I apologize.  I will find it for you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It may also be on your screen, sir.


MR. FRASER:  Oh, all right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at -- starting on page 10 of that document.  This is where you discuss -- and this is your legally required disclosure with respect to the potential impact of IFRS, and you are telling your investors about it, right?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the discussion starts on page 10, but then on page 11 you identify some of the key issues.  And the first one I see on that page, the heading is "In-progress construction and development."


That is what we have been talking about as capitalization policy, right, overhead capitalization?


MR. FRASER:  That is the -- the capitalization policy, really, in aggregate would be many aspects of accounting for capital assets.  But the overhead issue is the most significant one, with respect to IFRS.


And with respect to in-progress construction and development, you are correct.  The overhead one is the major consideration there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that will affect the ratepayers, right?  Or may?  Depending on whether you get your exemption, it will affect the ratepayers, right?


MR. FRASER:  The outcome of the Board's decision on whether or not they want to treat overhead accounting with pure IFRS or whether they want to provide an exception to us, there would be an impact on revenue requirement and on rate base from both options, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come back to that in a second.


The second one -- "Employee future benefits" -- this one, we haven't talked about in this proceeding.  Am I right in understanding that while that affects you from an accounting point of view, it doesn't affect you from a rate point of view?


MR. FRASER:  That's correct.  The Board's IFRS report basically left us on the same basis of accounting for regulatory purposes as we have under Canadian GAAP.  So there wouldn't be an IFRS impact there, although there would be an impact on the externally reported financial statements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You adjusted in your financial statements through a regulatory asset, right?


MR. FRASER:  We have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or liability?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And similarly, the third one here is PILs, payments in lieu of corporate income taxes, and that one, you have already made that adjustment, right?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  Canadian GAAP changed in anticipation of IFRS, so the requirement was to go to accrual taxes.  And again, that has an offsetting regulatory amount to reflect the fact that we are on cash taxes for regulatory purposes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that one doesn't affect the ratepayers either?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only one of these three major ones that you have reported in the financial materials is the overhead capitalization issue, right?


MR. FRASER:  That's right.  And that is the basis of our position that 2012, the submission or application is effectively CGAAP equal to IFRS, if you take into account the two exceptions we have asked for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I wonder if you can turn to Ontario Energy Board Interrogatory No. 19.  It is I-1-19.


And this has a series of questions relating to IFRS.


MR. FRASER:  Yes, I've got that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so let me first deal with the implementation question, and you talked about this briefly on Tuesday, I think.


But the Accounting Standards Board basically has you "surf's up, surf's not up"?  Changing their minds, right?


MR. FRASER:  We are living in interesting times.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  Well, and they are going to change the rules too, probably, right?


MR. FRASER:  Not change the rules -- I think actually officially this morning, the one-year deferral option for cost of service utilities to take or not take, based on their decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So no uncertainty here.  It is January 1st, 2012 now?


MR. FRASER:  Right.  That is the -- as it stands now.  However, as I mentioned on Tuesday, there are additional steps being taken by members of the CEA, in terms of approaching the Accounting Standards Board to see whether they're willing to reconsider that date, because the decision for the one-year deferral was taken in anticipation of a different ISB process and result that occurred after the Accounting Standards Board's decision was taken.


So that ISB decision, where they effectively went against their staff proposal, basically blindsided a lot of people, and I think -- I can't speak on behalf of the Canadian Accounting Standards Board, but my personal opinion is they weren't expecting that result.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just as matter of clarification, so the CEA proposal would move that deferral out a further year?


MR. FRASER:  The Accounting Standards Board originally exposed a two-year deferral option.  The Canadian Accounting Standards Board, when they actually met and discussed the exposure draft, decided on a one-year exemption, and that again was based on the fact that the international board seemed to be well along in terms of accepting their staff proposal that the rate-regulated accounting issue be resolved.  That didn't happen.


So the question is:  Will the accounting -- Canadian Accounting Standards Board revisit that one-year delay option?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is all about getting rate-regulated accounting to the top of the work list; right?


MR. FRASER:  Well, not so much the top of the work list, but basically removing the uncertainty as to when the rate regulated -- the international rate-regulated project will be resolved and what timeline that will be on.


The ISB has clearly shown that it is not willing to stop the project or come to a premature end on it without due process, but the question is:  What is the timeline for that and the process to arrive at a decision?


MR. SHEPHERD:  So originally when you planned this application, what you planned to do was CGAAP for 2011, and modified IFRS for 2012, with an exemption on the capitalization, because that was the big ticket item?


MR. FRASER:  That was our proposal, and that proposal was put forward because we didn't think it was -- given all of the uncertainty and given the large financial impact, we didn't think that a 14.7 percent rate impact for an externally driven accounting change would be particularly well received.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Perceptive of you.


Then in this interrogatory response on page 2, you say, Well, no, now it looks like it is going to be 2013, so we don't need this exception for 2012.


And now that has changed again, and now you do need it again; right?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  As it stands now, our application is effectively based on CGAAP for 2011 and 2012.  Our proposal at this point would be that we would like the deferral accounts that we requested, or variance accounts, whatever the appropriate terminology would be, approved as contingency, because if IFRS does trigger in 2012, we would like to have the ability to reflect those amounts there.


Actually, I misspoke, and I think I did this also when Mr. Aiken asked me.  I didn't pick up the fact that he had referred to a deferral account for the $200 million.  We are actually asking for a costing exception on the 200 million, not a deferral account.  However, a deferral account would be another option.  So what we have --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would have a very different impact; right?


MR. FRASER:  Well, yes, there would be a different impact, and downstream, potentially, depending on what the disposition pattern of the deferral account was, if it was matched to the service life of the assets, and it probably wouldn't be that different an impact.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see, okay.  I will come to that, because that is $200 million; right?


MR. FRASER:  It is $200 million every year.  It is not a one-time change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why is it $200 million every year?


MR. FRASER:  Because every year we would be shifting

-- using CGAAP as a base, we would be shifting $200 million of overheads that would otherwise be capitalized under CGAAP to current period charges and current period revenue requirements.  So every year that would happen.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But there is a timing difference; right?


MR. FRASER:  There would be as crossover, but it would be quite far out, I would suggest to you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is dependent on how big your capital program is; right?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.  This is based on the 2012 and our analysis of the 2012.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you are spending $1 billion a year, then you have this $200 million problem; correct?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you are spending 500 million a year, then you don't have that problem?  It's smaller?


MR. FRASER:  We would have to do the analysis as to what the impacts on the overheads capitalized would be, the differential between the existing CGAAP status quo and the amounts that could not be capitalized under IFRS.


I would hesitate to make a broad-brush approximation or rule on that.  I think you would have several inputs to look at.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the overhead capitalization problem a bigger problem for Hydro One than other utilities?


MR. FRASER:  We haven't analyzed other utilities, but I think -- based on circumstantial evidence, I would say that we have a significant issue.  I don't think every utility would have that issue to the same magnitude.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it because they have different accounting policies or because they just capitalize -- they have less overhead to capitalize?


MR. FRASER:  In terms of the actual costs, I would suggest to you that that is a matter of scale.


I think one of the issues for Hydro One is that we are a combined transmission and distribution entity, and we do have costs that are potentially further away from the work face, in terms of attributing them to assets.


So in past years under --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, can I just stop you?  I didn't understand that.


MR. FRASER:  I was just going to go further and explain.  Under CGAAP, we've got overhead capitalization studies that are carried out by external consultants based on causality.  So they can attribute overhead costs to the capital program based on causality and benefit, and those studies in the past have been Board approved.


However, under the applicable IFRS standard, there has to be more of a relationship between the overheads and the specific asset, rather than the capital envelope.


So that makes it more difficult to attach the costs, even though they do relate to the acquisition of capital, to the specific assets and to meet the tests for capitalizing those costs.  So based on how your organization is structured, and because we're a combined T&D company, to a large degree, some of our costs may not be sufficiently close to the specific assets which qualify for capitalization.


And other entities may or may not have that problem to varying degrees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the difference between the manager on site and the manager in the atrium.  And the manager on site in both cases is going to be capitalized, and the manager in the atrium under IFRS might not be?


MR. FRASER:  That's -- that is a simplistic assumption.


Like, it is a subjective thing, to some degree.  And as I mentioned on Tuesday, what we have to do is go through with a fine-tooth comb and convince our external auditors that costs are sufficiently related to specific capital assets to be treated as acquisition costs of that asset under IFRS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But what I was trying to drive at was something different, and that is, you know, we are not seeing as much -- when we look at the applications of smaller utilities, we are not seeing as much of a problem with this, even though they have similar capitalization policies to yours, and I am asking you whether the reason why that might be the case is because you have a larger management structure.


You have more overheads to capitalize in the first place.  Is that possible?


MR. FRASER:  I suppose it is possible.  I wouldn't arrive at that conclusion.


In terms of total overheads, I think probably there is a range of different companies and different overhead structures, and, again, relationship of the costs to the work face.


And, again, different companies, in terms of rate impacts, have different depreciation offsets than we would otherwise have, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have an analysis of any sort where you have tried to figure out how your overheads for capital projects compare to your peers?


MR. FRASER:  To my knowledge, we haven't done a detailed benchmark there, although I would point out, too, that most companies that are going through this IFRS work are only now starting to publicly announce high-level impacts.


So, again, this is coming down to the wire, and a lot of companies are still working on this actively.  So it is probably going to be some time before you see the comparators shake out in terms of what can and can't be capitalized in different organizations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, back to page 3 of this interrogatory response, you also talk about the premature retirement of assets.  You don't have a number for that; right?


MR. FRASER:  No, we don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is going to be a big number, do you think?


MR. FRASER:  It is going to be a significant -- well, put it this way.  There is a risk that it is a significant enough number that we would be loathe to take the risk ourselves, because it is going to be a unidirectional impact.


You are not going to have gains without sales and proceeds.  It is going to be losses from premature retirement.  And...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Understood.


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You -- the nature of the problem is that right now you use group depreciation, and so when you prematurely retire an asset, it is sort of still in there?


MR. FRASER:  That's correct.  Because of the way the group depreciation works, the asset -- the notional loss from prematurely retiring an asset still gets recovered in the depreciation of other assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is the classic stranded-assets problem, right?


MR. FRASER:  Well, it would be a stranded asset if it wasn't recoverable, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. FRASER:  And I mean, the problem is that group depreciation really does make a lot of sense from a regulatory perspective, and it really works to the advantage of, I think, both utilities and ratepayers in terms of ensuring that assets get recovered over ratepayer generations in a sensible way and they get fully recovered.


IFRS doesn't allow group depreciation, which is an impediment that we don't seem to be able to get around.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't see in here -- you are not asking for an exception from this Board from that rule, right?


MR. FRASER:  We were asking for a variance account to put premature retirement losses in for future review and disposition.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am going to come back to that.


But my understanding is the treatment you want of that is different than the treatment you want of the capitalization policy.


MR. FRASER:  Correct.  The proposal we put forward for the overheads was for costing exception.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. FRASER:  And as I mentioned --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So –-


MR. FRASER:  Sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.


MR. FRASER:  I was just going to say, as I think I alluded to, we are amenable to a variance account approach there too, if that is seen to be -- I mean, there are pros and cons to a costing exception versus a variance account treatment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In both of these cases, the two big-ticket items that would affect ratepayers, the essence of the problem is that you charge more to the ratepayers early under IFRS, but then later on -- that lowers your rate base, and later on they pay less, right?


MR. FRASER:  There would be -- economically, I haven't thought through the economics of it, but you are generally right.  Ratepayers would be paying more in the current revenue requirement for the overheads that would be current charges.


They would be getting a break over time, with a lower depreciation in the revenue requirement and a lower return.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I understand correctly that if you don't get this exemption, then either in 2012 or 2013 –- well, okay.  First of all, if you don't get this exemption, what are you proposing to the Board right now will happen in 2012?


MR. FRASER:  If there was no costing exception and no variance account treatment, then the result would be that the revenue requirement would have to be higher in 2012.


MR. SHEPHERD:  By --


MR. FRASER:  By approximately $200 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your rate increase, instead of being 9.7 percent, would be 24 percent or so?


MR. FRASER:  It would be a 14.7-percent additional rate increase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is -- almost 25 percent rate increase?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In total?  What I am saying is they're additive?


MR. FRASER:  Yes, they would be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


And so you are basically saying to this Board that is not a good idea?


MR. FRASER:  Our view is that that is not a good idea; correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the proposal you are making to the Board is:  Exempt us from that rule, the Board's rule now, but it's an IFRS-driven rule, right?  The Board's rule, the policy, so that -- and as a result, those things will remain in rate base.  We will collect them eventually.  We will just collect them over the life of the assets instead of right away?


MR. FRASER:  That is the option we put forward.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


Mr. Chairman, this is an appropriate pause, if it is convenient for you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will adjourn for 15 minutes and come back at 11:15.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:58 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.  Please be seated.  So we have lost our control panel.  So if anybody is interested in lowering or raising the drapes we will have a problem.


Oh, I see Mr. Buonaguro is the responsible party, so security need not be alerted at this point.


[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd.  Oh, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Shepherd has allowed me to interject here, because I have to be over arguing the OPG motion at 1 o'clock, and I am just running out of time to do this.


What I would like to do is just follow up with a few questions on the documents that were presented this morning, and then there is one other matter I would like to speak to before I withdraw from the hearing.


May I be permitted to do that?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  I think it is -- generally, it has been the Board practice that if an undertaking gives rise to reasonable questions, that questions directly related to the undertaking response are permitted.


MR. ROGERS:  I quite agree, sir.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Could I start, Mr. Struthers, just with the information you provided this morning about a board of director -- I think I got this right.  Was it a board of directors' meeting on April 28th?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There was a special board of directors meeting on April 28th, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it wasn't a committee meeting, as we were discussing the other day?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  There was a committee meeting following the board of directors meeting.


MR. THOMPSON:  Can you tell me whether a presentation was made in writing to the board of directors for that April meeting, other than, as I mentioned yesterday, simply providing them with a copy of the decision?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have enquired and I have been told that all they were provided with was a copy of the decision.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Can I then turn to the chart that you provided?  And you will also need KX.2 (sic), page 8 just to compare the two.


The chart that was filed this morning was KX7.1, I believe.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's helpful.  Yes.  Okay, I have those documents.


MR. THOMPSON:  In the KX -- what was it, 2.6?  Whatever the...  Excuse me.  KX2.6, I got this backwards.  The total bill starting point in 2009 appeared to have been - I am ballparking - about $118.00?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is it fair to express that as a unit cost of $118.00 per megawatt-hour, since it is 1,000 kilowatt-hours and a bill of $118.00?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have to admit to not being able to do math in my head, so I will take it subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, all right.


And comparing that to KX7.1, it appears that the starting point has increased from $118.00, roughly, to $138.00?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  The escalations thereafter, I understood from our discussion last day -- and maybe I am not understanding this correctly, but in the slides in KX2.6, there is a chart that shows the -- yes, the percentage TX and DX increase.  I think it is slide 10.


And my question is:  Are the years following 2009 based on, insofar as TX and DX is concerned, those percentage increases at slide 10, or have those numbers changed?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  They're supposed to be the same numbers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it looks to me like the starting point was different, but then proportionately the increases in the initial exhibit and in the subsequent exhibit are tracking those numbers.  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  That is my expectation, as well.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, I believe is a difference between Hydro One's average distribution bill and the average distribution bill for all distribution customers in the province.  Are you aware of that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that's correct, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know --


MR. THOMPSON:  And my information is -- and this may be in error, but my information is that around the end of 2009, the total for the average of all customers was about $118.00 per megawatt-hour.


Do you have any information on that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I don't.


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  What I was really getting at is it appeared to me that the chart that was presented in the initial KX2.6 was the distribution impact on all customers based on that average, and that this new one is now focussing on Hydro One's average customers, am I correct, that they're presenting two different scenarios?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, no.  I think I indicated this morning that the original material, there was an error in one of the items that was included in distribution costs, and that was the fixed charge.


It certainly wasn't intentional.  What we were trying to do was show the Hydro One numbers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We weren't trying to show the provincial numbers.  It was just Hydro One.


MR. THOMPSON:  So when you say the fixed charge was missed, was it then missed in the 2009 box, because the Hydro One distribution piece of that seems to be -- in the updated exhibit, seems to be materially greater than what it was in the initial presentation?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  We were consistent in making the same error across all of the years.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I guess I took it you had it in year 1, but then the percentage increases would carry it forward into all years.


What is the amount of the fixed charge that was missed?  Is that $20.00, roughly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Roughly, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Okay.  Now, the numbers in the initial chart at slide 8, turning -- for the dollar increase, that is in the second line below the chart.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the dollars, I will just take the two years that are -- that I believe are not redacted, 2010 and 2011.  They total about $13.33.  Then in the updated numbers, they total $17.29.


Are the dollar amounts in the updated exhibit the numbers that we should be relying on as the transmission-related and distribution-related increases for Hydro One customers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The numbers that you have for 2010-2011, the increased number is a result of the increase which is primarily distribution and transmission charges, but I think it may also include -- I think there was a commodity adjustment in 2010 from 2009.


MR. THOMPSON:  But my question is:  Which dollars do we use?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would use the new chart.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So they're higher by -- just for those two years, it is some roughly $4.00 on 13.  So it is almost 25 percent higher than initial presentation.


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, the error was made in that we didn't pick up the fixed portion of the distribution charge.  That changes year by year, and so we were consistent in making the same mistake.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks for that.


Now, the other document that was presented this morning was the undertaking -- this is J6.4, which had the comparative amounts that were requested.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that document.


MR. THOMPSON:  You are showing there that - this, again, is for Hydro One customers, as I understand it - the bill of September 1, 2009 including taxes would have been $148.18?  That's for 1,000 kilowatt-hours.


MR. STRUTHERS:  For 2009, $148.18 after tax, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the -- just pausing there, the number that you have in KX7.1 for the same customer for 2009 is $138.07.


Is there some explanation for that difference?


MR. STRUTHERS:  My understanding is that rate riders were not applied to the $138.07 number.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.


And then the -- in terms of what the consumer will see as of September 1, 2007, the number with taxes as of September 1 is $174.42?  Have I got that straight?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is the number shown in the material, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I make that -- from a taxes-included bill to a taxes-included bill -- an increase of about $26.34, or about 17.7 percent, according to my math.


Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will take that subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is it, then, reasonable, in terms of estimating what consumers have already experienced -- and I appreciate it varies from customer to customer -- and I am talking now across Ontario, to use a range of between 15 and 20 percent total bill increases, that they have experienced to date in 2010?  Is that reasonable?


MR. STRUTHERS:  You are talking for all utilities across Ontario?  Or are you talking for Hydro One?


MR. THOMPSON:  All utilities.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I can't comment on all utilities.  I don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


Those are the questions I had of the panel, Mr. Chairman.


The only other point I wanted to raise related to -- in part to a response from Mr. Struthers this morning about the commitment we asked Hydro One to make to include a TBI analysis in their business-planning process and to present it here.


And my understanding is Hydro One's not prepared to do that.  So I wanted to come back to --


MR. STRUTHERS:  To be clear, I would be happy to work with the Board if they wanted to put together such a document.  We would be more than happy to provide the information requested from -- that you would need from Hydro One.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks very much.  That's constructive.


I still do want to come back, though, Mr. Chairman, to the discussion I had in the transcript last day, page 76 to 78, and we filed Exhibit K6.2, which pertained to a TBI study done by the Board.


The letter that the Board circulated in the OPG case indicated that the Board didn't intend to release the report publicly at this time.


I am asking that it be produced in this case.  I have spoken to Ms. Lea about this, and my understanding is that Board Staff is resisting that request for production of that document.


So the issue would need to be argued.  I can give an overview of why we submit it is relevant, but I can also delay and deal with that later.  So I am tabling that request.


My difficulty is in finding a time to argue it.  Ms. Lea has indicated that Staff, as I understand it, is prepared to distribute the document in confidence so that the matter can be argued before you.


And I am suggesting that perhaps at the end of today we could argue whether that should be produced in this proceeding or not, or -- my difficulty tomorrow is that I have a funeral in Ottawa that I am hoping to be able to make.


So if it couldn't be done today, then it would have to be the beginning of next week, and Mr. DeRose will be taking over for me next week.


But that is the dilemma I am in, in terms of Arguing.  And I know the Panel really determines when it should be argued.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, yes, this has just come up today, as I understand it, and I have no instructions from my client about this.


I have some concerns about this.  I am not Board counsel, but I have some concerns about the whole process and all those who are regulated by you about this kind of disclosure.  Moreover, about providing these documents, I don't know what is in them.  I have no idea.  Whether it would be - I am very much concerned about it.  I would like to see a formal process to decide.  This is very important.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I tend to agree with your general drift of what I think you are saying.


I am wondering if the process would be materially assisted if the distribution in-confidence could be made, and that would allow you to take a look at the document, Mr. Rogers.


And the Board will take the further steps under advisement, and consider when or if the matter ought to be argued.


And I would expect that, given that that distribution would be in confidence, that that argument would presumptively also be in confidence, to allow a proper airing of the issue.


The question -- there are, I guess, a couple of questions that come to mind, but one of the questions is that -- the sort of essential probative value of the document.


So what I would propose to do -- and I will give you an opportunity to respond to this, Mr. Rogers, and anybody else who wants to comment -- what I propose to do is probably make provision for a distribution of the document on an in-confidence basis to counsel, for them to be able to appreciate the subject matter and the nature of the document.


And then we will make, the Panel will make a further determination as to how, when or if there will be further argument on the subject.


Does that make sense?


MR. ROGERS:  Very good.  Very good.


I am just sorting through my mind some of the implications of this.


It is the Board Staff's document, so I agree.  It is not my document, but I do have some concerns about the impact of this kind of thing on this whole process.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  And that may -- your concerns may or may not be assuaged by the nature of the document itself and the -- its actual potential use.  I think that is why there may be a virtue in having it distributed.


So what we will order at this stage is that there be a distribution of the document to counsel, subject to the usual undertaking with respect to confidentiality.  And we will -- this matter will come up again, perhaps later today, although I know parties are engaged this afternoon in a motion, some parties are engaged in a motion this afternoon.


But the Board will come back to the parties and will be open to any submissions made by any party with respect to this as we go forward over the next couple of days.


I take it that what you are suggesting, Mr. Thompson, I think the idea of arguing the actual admissibility of the document or whatever this afternoon is probably not a good idea, given the OPG matter that is going on and the very recent nature of this issue.


So I am suggesting that probably the earliest time we would get to it would be tomorrow for argument on the substance of the matter, and perhaps Monday.


So with that guidance, I will ask over the lunch period for Board Staff to make a distribution of the document to counsel.


MS. LEA:  Very well, Mr. Chairman.


Board Staff does wish to bring arguments on the record with respect to the production of this document.  Mr. Thompson is right that we are not prepared, in the absence of the order from the Board, to release this document.  However, of course we will obey the Board's directions in this matter.


And as I understand your present direction, sir, it is that we distribute this document to those who have signed an undertaking and are interested in seeing it, for counsel to have the opportunity to evaluate the document.


We are ready to argue this at any time.


I think I understood Mr. Thompson to say that no one was available to argue it from his perspective tomorrow, but I may have misheard him.


I just do want to indicate on the record that we will be arguing that no production should be made of this document.  However, we will certainly comply with your direction and distribute it, in confidence, to counsel, and the Board, of course.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I realize this will come in the fullness of time, but it would certainly be useful for us if we understood, prior to this time that we argue it, what the basis of the resistance of production is.


I understand.  If it is some form of privilege or something like that, then some advanced notice would be useful so we can be prepared for it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That request is on the record.  Ms. Lea can take it into account.


MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you.  I think there are several grounds upon which we would intend to argue, and it is my colleague, Ms. Helt, who is going to make the argument, so I will ask her to supplement this if needs be.


The letter itself, which has become an exhibit in this proceeding - and the number escapes me momentarily, but I think you all have it before you - indicates the primary reason why we will be arguing that this document should not be produced.


It is in the nature of work, ongoing work, undertaken by the Board Staff, and the reasons for that are set out in the letter.


Secondly, we will be bringing arguments towards probative value with respect to this document.  And we do have, I believe, one authority upon which we will rely, and so we will need to provide that to counsel, as well.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  I note that, Mr. Aiken, I indicated that counsel only would be able to see this document.  I would -- Mr. Aiken, you have executed the undertaking?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I have.


MS. LEA:  We have no objection to Mr. Aiken seeing it, if he is interested in the matter and intends to make argument.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I didn't mean to exclude you, Mr. Aiken, in the list of persons who may be canvassed to look at this, if they want to.


MS. LEA:  Thirdly, as Mr. Rogers raised earlier, sir, talking about the grounds, there may be some question about fairness to the applicant with respect to this, and, of course, the integrity of the work that is conducted by the Board Staff at any time.  And I think that the latter will probably be the main foundation of our argument.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  So over the lunch break, we will ask Board Staff to make that distribution, and we will go from there.


MS. LEA:  We will do that, sir, as well the authority upon which my colleague will rely.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Oh, yes.  I'm sorry, sir.  Should we assign an exhibit number now to this?  I mean, it will need an exhibit number, or shall we do it after the lunch break?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As a matter of fact, let's do it later.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am suggesting it probably shouldn't get an exhibit number until such time as the Board is actually prepared to receive the document into the record of the case.


MS. LEA:  I think that that is very wise, sir.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just the other consideration that the Board wants to emphasize is that we do regard the efficient process of this case as an element of our -- integrated element of our work.  So we would hope to ensure that whatever happens with respect to this document, it does not represent a delay with respect to the orderly process of the case.


So we are not going to stand things -- it would be -- we would need very strong argument to permit any use of this, this document or any other document at this stage, that would kind of sideline the case for a period of time.  That's going to require a very significant standard of argument.  Just fair warning.


Okay, so we will move on from that, Mr. Shepherd.  An interesting digression from Mr. Thompson, but there you go.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that imply that IFRS is not interesting, Mr. Chairman?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.  You could see that we were rivetted.


[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we continue to be.

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I only have a couple more questions on IFRS, and then I will be done with it.


The first thing I want to ask you about, I guess, Mr. Fraser, is the deferral -- I just want to make clear what the deferral and variance accounts are that you want right now.


And my understanding is these are summarized in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 92.  There is a description of what you want and why you want it.  Do you have that?


MR. FRASER:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you go to page 3 of that document, the first -- this is your response.  You are being asked to explain what these accounts are; right?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the first one is the impact for changes in IFRS account, and that is basically something you don't know now is going to happen in IFRS, but because it keeps changing, something might happen?


MR. FRASER:  It is identical to the account that we had approved in distribution the last distribution hearing, and it is specifically for changes in IFRS between the date of the application and whatever date the changes may occur.  And those changes, as we mentioned, could come from actual changes in IFRS standards, or in the interpretation of those standards that affect us, by third parties that are in a position to make those interpretations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me just ask you a couple of questions about that.  This says 2012 only?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.  Based on the original application, I think probably in our interrogatory we suggested that it wouldn't be required for 2012 because of the expected two-year delay.  Now we are back into a situation where we would want that account for 2012 again.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you just said any changes between now -- between when you filed --


MR. FRASER:  Between the date of the application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And when?


MR. FRASER:  And the end of 2012, presumably.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is only the revenue requirement impact in 2012 that you are asking to go in there?


MR. FRASER:  Right.  Like, if a significant change occurred, say, January 1st, 2012 that drove a different accounting result, we are required to follow IFRS, if we are using IFRS in 2012.  So we would want to reflect that in a variance account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am asking is a different question.


MR. FRASER:  Okay, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If something happens tomorrow --


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- or in 2011 and affects 2011 revenue requirement, you are not asking for an account for that?


MR. FRASER:  Only as that affected 2012 collaterally.  2011 is on a CGAAP basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So even if you had to move to IFRS next year, which, who knows what the rule is going to be --


MR. FRASER:  I think it comes back to what the Board's decision would be in terms of when IFRS is effective for regulatory purposes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. FRASER:  That is one of the issues, is there is external uncertainties, but the Board also has to determine when modified IFRS comes in for regulatory purposes.


So I think a significant delay -- or, sorry, a significant change, in fact, that put IFRS into effect in 2011 would be -- I think the Board would have concerns from more entities than us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not asking for a deferral account for that right now?


MR. FRASER:  Not currently.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, okay.


So you could, but this application, there is no request for it?


MR. FRASER:  No, because we are not expecting IFRS to trigger in 2011.  That is a whole issue of when IFRS is effective.  There is no assumption at this time that it is going to be any sooner than January 1st, 2012.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your comment on the external interpretations of IFRS standards, is that -- are you referring to Board policies there?


MR. FRASER:  Well, it is really basically any group that is in a position to change the interpretation of IFRS, as we understand it, that could have a regulatory impact.  So that could be the large accounting firms.  It could be the ISB and its staff, or it could be the Board in terms of how it wants to provide guidance on modified IFRS, for example, if there were unanticipated changes in the Accounting Procedures Handbook that reflect IFRS, things like that that we couldn't reasonably have anticipated.


I can't at this point provide examples on sort of what those could be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking for examples.  I am just trying to get a sense of the scope.  So the scope includes, for example, if your auditors say, Sorry, our view of IFRS is X, we don't care what you think; this is what you have to have?


MR. FRASER:  That's correct, although I think I would point out that we have been conferring with our auditors through our IFRS project.  So we wouldn't expect to have that level of change in position from our auditors, unless the accounting profession as a whole changed its view.


And it is not inconceivable that could happen, but I wouldn't expect our auditors would be the only firm that would do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They tend to work together own big things?


MR. FRASER:  They tend to have similar positions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  The second account is this account for premature asset retirements, the gains and losses account; right?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is also -- again, because you are assuming that IFRS isn't going to kick in for next year, it is only for 2012?


MR. FRASER:  Well, I should point out that under the Board's IFRS policy, as expressed in its IFRS report, entities had the option of triggering IFRS in 2011 or 2012.  That was left to the option of the utility.


We've adopted 2012 as our IFRS trigger date, not to say that couldn't potentially change, but there is no indication it will right now.  So we would only need that account after IFRS -- modified IFRS became effective for regulatory purposes.


Right now, based on our application and based on the Board's guidance, that would be January 1st, 2012.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me -- I didn't twig to that, so... but it sounds like what you are saying is if you change your mind and decide -- and elect 2011, you are not asking for these accounts to cover 2011?


MR. FRASER:  I can't think of a circumstance after a rate application where we would change the whole basis of our application to trigger IFRS for regulatory purposes in 2011, so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.


MR. FRASER:  But if we did that, we would need a variance account for that period too.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not asking for it?


MR. FRASER:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You would have to ask for a separate accounting order?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so then on this gains-and-losses account, you made a comment earlier that there are really no gains on the assets?


MR. FRASER:  There will be -- based on the historical record, there may be some minimal gains.  We don't generally forecast gains because they're not potentially material.


But the only time you can have a gain is if you sell an asset for proceeds.  So the view is that we would put all of our gains and losses, net, into this account.  And that would capture them all.


But most of the impacts in this account that we see and the reason for it is that under the method of depreciation that has to be used under IFRS, assets that are not completely depreciated and asset components that are not completely depreciated when they're retired, the net book value will become a loss, and it will go to the profit and loss.


So if there is no ability to continue to depreciate those assets for regulatory purposes, and the Board has basically asked us to use IFRS as a basis of accounting for regulatory purposes too, then there is no ability to collect that undepreciated amount of the asset.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The only gain component to that would usually be, like, a salvage value of some sort, right?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  Although salvage values are historically fairly immaterial.  Again, gains would only usual come when we sell an asset for proceeds, and that is fairly minimal.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said here you can't reasonably forecast this amount.  We are not talking about $5 million, though.  We are talking about it could be tens or hundreds of millions of dollars in any given year, right?


MR. FRASER:  I wouldn't want to provide you with an order of magnitude, but there are scenarios where if, for example, a storm comes through and takes out a line section that has recently been rebuilt or installed, you could have a significant loss, because the assets don't have much depreciation on them.


There are other circumstances where you have an early retirement that is maybe driven by another factor -- it could be a government policy factor, it could be a demand factor -- that would lead you to retire an asset early.  Again, you could have a significant undepreciated value on an asset like that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And again --


MR. FRASER:  At the component level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not asking the Board to say, at this time, how this should be cleared, right?


Just hear me out.  So normally, when you have a deferral or variance account there is some expectation that relatively quickly you will clear it out.  But one of the things you were talking about earlier was something like putting it in as a regulatory asset, and clearing it the way you would if it were still in depreciation, right?


MR. FRASER:  Well, that would be one option that may be theoretically would make sense if you were trying to preserve the costing of the asset that otherwise would have been.


That would be, I think, rather difficult to do, to determine what the remaining average service life of a variance account would be, that held asset net book values for multiple types of assets and vintages.


That, in our view, would be up to the Board to determine what the appropriate clearance period would be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're not asking the Board to do that now?


MR. FRASER:  We are not asking for that now.  That would be in a future application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the third of the accounts is the incremental transition costs account.  You are not asking for anything different in this account than exactly what the Board proposed in their own Report, right?


MR. FRASER:  No.  This is the same account that comes out of the FAQ from the Accounting Procedures Handbook, as well as the one that was referred to in the Board's IFRS Report.


There is nothing additional in there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now.  Let me just understand.  We talked about the 14-point-something-percent increase coming out of the capitalization impact.


If it is not deferred, if we don't directly or indirectly stay with CGAAP, then there is $200 million coming, right?


MR. FRASER:  In 2012, we would have additional OM&A and reduced capital of 2012 –- sorry, of $200 million.


And that amount would, in the absence of an exception, be included in the revenue requirement in 2012, and then there would be a similar impact in 2013, 2014, et cetera.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You also have a number of places where you deferred spending from this period to the next period, 2013, right?


MR. FRASER:  I am not sure what you mean.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You made some adjustments to --


MR. FRASER:  Oh, you're talking --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- this application.


MR. FRASER:  I see what you mean, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not IFRS anymore, but you have a number of adjustments.  You are going to have to spend that money at some point, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  You're talking about deferral accounts or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the deferrals of spending.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Oh, you're talking about the green energy projects or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The capital.  And you got OM&A, right?  You have a whole bunch of OM&A you deferred too, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will say yes, but... yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that all kicks in starting in 2013, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would be -- first of all, it would depend on what we came forward with a filing in 2013 for, in terms of recovery through revenue.


And it also depends what the work program is and sort of all of the elements that would make up -- as you referred to them, as deferred projects, whether those projects are deferred or whether they are continually deferred, or however we did it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these various things, see, what I am -- where I am trying to go with this is that these various things are sort of like a train coming down the track at the ratepayers.


And I am concerned that we may be talking about a lot of things that could hurt us at some point down the line, whether it is capitalization or premature asset retirements or deferred OM&A or new projects, et cetera.


And we may be hit for a whacking great increase in 2013 or '14.  That is a real possibility, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There is always the risk, depending on what we are directed to do or what is undertaken, that those costs could be recovered and they could be substantial in the future, yes.  That is one of the issues with deferral accounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have your current estimate of what that is likely to be if we don't do something about IFRS, about these IFRS things?  If this Board doesn't give you the exemption that you are asking for, do we know what 2013 looks like, relative to today?  Do we have a forecast?


The number you have in KX2.6 and the number you have in XX1.4, they're not correct anymore, are they?  If that happens?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think the numbers you are referring to are based on CGAAP rather than IFRS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In KX1.4 and KX2.6?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I believe so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For 2013, they're based on CGAAP?


MR. FRASER:  If the 2012 application is based on a costing exception that would continue to cost assets, and by extension, OM&A based on CGAAP, so that -- any information in -- past 2012 would have that assumption built into it, that that costing exception would be there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  I will leave that.


I just have two other quick accounting issues I want to nail down.  In interrogatory -- School Energy Coalition No. 4, which is Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 4, you made a statement that in certain circumstances, you depreciate land.


MR. FRASER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am not an accountant, but that is the first I have ever heard of it.


So I thought maybe you could help us understand why that is.


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  If you go to both Canadian GAAP and to IFRS statements that drive depreciation, there is a general appreciation that in certain circumstances land is depreciated.  That generally occurs when the land won't retain its value.


So that practice actually goes all the way back to Ontario Hydro's time.


So for example, when there is land that can be sold, when it is no longer needed, when there is potential capital recovery or capital appreciation, that land is not depreciated.


However, when there is land that will not retain its value -- and usually that is with respect to very narrow tracts of land that would probably be abandoned on the completion of service -- and to ensure capital recovery, that land is depreciated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are not talking about land that because of how you use it is subject to environmental damage or something like that?


MR. FRASER:  No.  No.  It is really related to the fact that some rural distribution-owned lands and communications quarters are so narrow that they really have no resale value.  Therefore the cost isn't recoverable through a sale at the completion of service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So even though you paid for them in the first place, you wouldn't expect somebody else to pay for them?


MR. FRASER:  Nobody else would want them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then the other accounting issue I want to ask you about, and Mr. Aiken asked you about this on Tuesday, and that is this PST/HST difference.  And you talked about that in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 91.


Do you have that there?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, basically, as I understand this, you have an estimate of what the impact of this is in each of the test years; right?


MR. FRASER:  We do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not proposing to adjust your revenue requirement to reflect that estimate?


MR. FRASER:  No.  The impact in 2010 would be going into the deferral account, for the half year of 2010.  We had made the proposal that the impacts on 2011 and 2012 also go into the deferral account --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?


MR. FRASER:  -- into the tax changes account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?


MR. STRUTHERS:  But to be clear, yesterday I said that if the Board determined that such a variance should be applied against the revenue requirement, then it would be the Board's decision to do so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am trying to understand the rationale for using a deferral account, rather than putting in your estimate and having a variance account.  I didn't hear a rationale on Tuesday.  That is why I am asking.


MR. STRUTHERS:  To be honest, I don't know why.  Like, we would have asked for a variance account, but we decided to ask for a deferral account.


MR. FRASER:  Maybe I can help with that.


The estimate has been a rather difficult one to arrive at and it has been evolving.  The estimate is fairly solid now, but it is fairly recent.


And there is an existing deferral account that does accommodate tax rate changes.  So the view was that 2010, half of 2010, would go there, and 2011, 2012, also, and that it would be subject to a later disposition rather than changing the revenue requirement on the fly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you were to adjust your revenue requirement for this, the numbers on page 2 of Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 91, 5.2 million in OM&A for 2011 and 5.3 for 2012, would be direct reductions of revenue requirement; right?


MR. FRASER:  I think the OM&A would be.  I think Mr. Struthers mentioned a general rule of thumb on the capital, in terms of the impact on the revenue requirement.


I think we would appreciate an opportunity to refine that number in terms of the revenue requirement amount.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking for specific numbers.  All I am asking is:  We're talking about in the order of a $10 million reduction of revenue requirement each year if you put it in and have a variance account; right?


MR. FRASER:  I would say less than that, but order of magnitude, I would accept that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And you have no reason to object --


MR. FRASER:  Sorry, I should just say, 2011, the impact probably would be less than that, again, because of half-year considerations on the rate base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  And you have no objection to that?  You are fine with that if that is what the Board would like to do?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, there have been discussions with Board Staff around the issue of HST.  We have taken the Board Staff around a methodology that we are proposing, and my understanding is Board Staff is accepting of that methodology.  And to the extent that everybody is in agreement, then, yes, we would have no issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't understand.


You are saying the Board Staff has already approved this?


MR. STRUTHERS:  My understanding is that Board Staff understand and are accepting of the methodology.  What we're doing at the moment is refining exactly what those numbers would be.  So we have an agreement on the methodology.  At least we think we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  With who?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Board Staff.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The last I heard, Staff doesn't get to agree to those things, but that's fine.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Conceptually, we have spoken to Board Staff with respect to how to handle HST and the issues associated with it.  We have walked them through a methodology.  Our understanding is that they understand what we're trying to do, and understand how we are calculating it and understand that that is a reasonable estimate.


We are now refining what that estimate would look like.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So all I am asking is if there is some reason why a deferral account and the ratepayers paying more in those two years, and then getting it back later.  If there is some reason why that is a good idea, I am asking you to give it to us.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And what I am suggesting is we would look to the Board for a decision as to whether they wanted to address it in a variance account or revenue reduction.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Now, the main thing I want to talk about was actually not IFRS - I was hoping to finish that faster - is CWIP in rate base.


I know -- now this is back to you, Mr. Struthers; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe so, depending on the question, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And let me start -- the IR that has most of this is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 122.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I wonder if you could turn that up, because I have a number of questions on that.


On the first page of that response, you note that the discount rate for your calculations is a weighted average cost of capital; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  It is the after tax weighted cost of capital, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is 6.62 percent?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, your actual cost of capital, the cost -- the total costs that the ratepayers pay for capital has four components.  Tell me whether this is right.


It has your interest on long-term debt?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It has your interest on short-term debt?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It has your ROE?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it has your PILs?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  It has the tax effect of the interest, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  It does not have -- I am not asking about weighted average cost of capital.  I am asking about your actual cost.


What the ratepayers pay for rate base, they pay interest.  You don't give them a break on that.  They don't save any money on that.  They pay every dollar; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They pay every dollar of short-term interest, too?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They pay every dollar of the ROE?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, they do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they pay every dollar of the PILs?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  PILs are recovered.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you add those up, that is their real cost of your capital; right?  The gross cost, put it that way.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm not sure where you are going, but depending on how you want to use the calculation, that would be one interpretation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And that varies from year to year depending on your tax situation; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It varies depending on the tax situation, the interest rates charged and the allowed ROE provided by the Board.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  And it is -- in a low year, it might be 9 or 9-1/2 percent.  In a high year, it might be 10-1/2 or 11 percent, right, of your rate base?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The return on equity?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the total of all of those things.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Based on the methodology you have just described, yes.  Based on your methodology, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


In general, is it your view that ratepayers have a higher or lower cost of capital than Hydro One?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It depends -- when you talk about ratepayers, you talk about ratepayers being just industrials or you talk about ratepayers being everybody?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking everybody.


MR. STRUTHERS:  My view is they would have a lower cost of capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would they have a lower cost of capital?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Because you would be looking at residentials.  Within that, residentials can borrow - it depends - 2, 3 percent, 4 percent maybe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How do they do that, because if you know somebody, I would like their number?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, if I look at the OPA discount rate which applies, which in my understanding is the Society's discount rate, their calculation is approximately 4 percent.  I am assuming that they would have looked at -- and the OPA, coming up to that number, they would have looked at whatever the appropriate borrowing rates were for residentials and understand sort of what a residential and industrial mix would be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are telling the Board that the social discount rate is what residential ratepayers borrow at?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am telling you that the social discount rate provided by the OPA is 4 percent.  That is supposed to cover off both residential, and also industrials.  At least that is my understanding of how that calculation was performed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course all of those things are after tax; right?  So they first have to earn the money, pay tax on it, and then what is left over is what they pay their interest rate on; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If I go back to the question that you asked me, which was, What do you believe the discount rate -- society or social discount rate is, I am telling you the OPA's calculation of that is 4 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask you that.


What I asked you is:  Do you believe -- what I originally asked you is:  What is the cost of capital of your ratepayers?


You talked about the social discount rate, and I am asking you:  Are you telling this Board that the social discount rate is an expression of the cost of capital of residential ratepayers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  And I look to the OPA as providing that rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking whether their number is right.  I am asking whether that concept of social discount has anything to do with the cost of capital of residential ratepayers.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And I will repeat I am looking at the OPA's discount rate as being the appropriate social discount rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The discount rate in your formula -- oh, let me just move aside for a second.


Your industrial customers, of course, don't have that; right?  They have a mix of capital requirements, the same as you; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, they would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you have a lower beta than they do, typically your cost of capital would be lower than theirs; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have many customers where their cost of capital is actually non-financial.  It's -- they don't have the money, right?  So they have to cut back on something.  If you charge them more money, it is not a question of borrowing it; they just don't have it.  It means they don't go on vacation, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Arguably, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your model of CWIP in rate base uses a discount rate that reflects the time value of money, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.  It is an after-tax calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you're calculating revenue requirement using this discount rate, am I right in concluding that that discount rate is an expression of the time value of money for ratepayers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think there were two calculations within that.  One was a revenue requirement and the other is the cost of the project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The DCF?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking about the DCF.  I am asking about the net present value.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Net present value of the cost or net present value of the revenue requirement?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of the revenue requirement.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, the question, again, was?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have -- it is your calculation, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  No, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you did a net present value --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- of the revenue requirement impacts of the Bruce-to-Milton projects, with and without CWIP in rate base?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said to this Board it is better for the ratepayers, it is cheaper for them if they have CWIP in rate base; isn't that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We have done a calculation using net present value, using the OEB's Standard Transmission System Code structure for valuing the calculations.  And that is why you end up with the WACC that we used, the weighted average cost of capital.


We've run that model, and based on the numbers in that model, the answer is yes, it is more advantageous for customers.  But again, as I talked about earlier, we would look to the Board to make a decision as to whether we should be using a AFUDC and therefore having a higher cost and having that higher cost included in, ultimately, the rate base, or whether the Board would look to us to use a CWIP basis, which would keep the revenue models more advantageous to customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you do a net present value calculation, will you agree with me that those calculations are sensitive to the discount rate used?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would agree with you they are sensitive to the discount rate used, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  On this page 1 of Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 122, you talk about the smoothing effect on rates.  Let me just understand what you are saying here.


Do I understand that what you are saying is that the rate hit that you get when something big goes into service is less if you pay some of it in advance?  Right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What we're proposing to do is that it is a smoother.  If you look at the numbers on table 1 of Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 122, you will see that the increases are 3.1, 3.7, 4.1, basically, therefore, flat.


If you were to go with the AFUDC model, they go from zero to 2.2 to 4.5, so there is a bigger jump in the latter years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that means you are agreeing with me?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think I answered your question.  I am not sure what the question was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, the question was:  You are arguing or you are proposing to the Board that the ratepayers prepay some of the costs of Bruce-to-Milton so that they won't have as big a rate hit when it comes into service?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  In 2013, you are absolutely right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I thought you were saying that the rate hit is in 2012, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you look at the AFUDC rates, the initial increase is 2.2, and there is another jump in to -- it increases to 4.5 in 2013.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so it works sort of like a layaway plan.  Remember layaway plans?  You put your money up for the -- you know, the engagement ring that you want to get in six months.  You put it away and you put it away and eventually you have enough to at least make a down payment on it.  It works the same way, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Conceptually, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In this, on page 2 -- you took us to page 2, and in this big paragraph near the bottom, you talk about the fact that you will be able to borrow less because of CWIP in rate base, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The -- yes.  And the way that works is because our borrowing is based on rate base.  So if, for example, my rate base is higher because of an AFUDC add -- adder to it, then my borrowing -- my borrowing required in order to support it will be higher as well, because it is a portion of rate base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is also because if the ratepayers have already given you the money, you don't have to borrow it, because they already gave it to you, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will go back to how the deemed debt is based on rate base.  That is the calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So if they have already given you the money, you have less rate base.  That's the point?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we agree.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so instead of you borrowing it, they have to borrow it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Instead of Hydro One -- instead of the capital being used in the company, to borrow, the money is being provided as the project is being built.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Somebody has to get the money?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  So you are asking for this $70 million over the next two years; somebody has to get that money, right?  So either you have to go borrow it or...


MR. STRUTHERS:  Or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  To raise some equity, or the ratepayers have to get it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  In order for the calculation, as we discussed, yes, the money has to come either through revenue, or alternatively it has to be borrowed in order to undertake the project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you can turn to page 3 of this --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Page 3 of?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of this Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 122.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a heading:  "Why is CWIP in rate base less costly on a lifetime NPV revenue requirement basis?"


See that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you say:  Well, it is because of the difference in rate between AFUDC and blended debt equity, and blah, blah, blah.


I put it to you that the real reason is because your cost of capital in that model is higher than the discount rate of 6.62 that you are using for the ratepayers; isn't that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  My after-tax cost of capital is 6.62.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  But you're calculating revenue requirement.  So your cost of capital that is built into the revenue requirement is 10 percent, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  My weighted average cost of capital is 6.62.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How much are the ratepayers paying?  In your model, how much are the ratepayers paying for your rate base?  Is it 10 percent, or not?


MR. STRUTHERS:  On a return-on-equity basis, they would pay whatever the deemed rate was allowed, which I think --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  It is not return on equity, is it?  We went through this already.


There is four components to it: the two types of debt, two types of interest, the ROE and they PILs.


They have to pay all of them, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we agreed on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total is 10 percent, roughly, let's say.


MR. STRUTHERS:  On your model, we agreed it is 10 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what they actually have to pay, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am telling you -- I think you asked me what is my cost of capital, and I'm telling you my weighted average cost of capital after tax is 6.62 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


We provided to you with some spreadsheets.  Did you get those?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I had a chance to quickly review them.  I haven't gone through them in detail.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, what we did, we only made one change.  We calculated your average gross cost of capital, this number we have been talking about, in each case, just by arranging them over the years, what your actual charges were to the ratepayers, and divided it into rate base.


And then we used that as your discount rate.  You saw that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I saw the calculation.  I am not sure I agree with the methodology, but I saw the calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Did we calculate it incorrectly?


I understand you disagree with whether that is a real cost of capital, but --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, if you go to year 50, I believe the way you have done it is you have taken into consideration the entire depreciation amount in that year as part of your return.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The depreciation amount?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is a terminal -- I believe.  I don't have the sheets in front of me, so perhaps you can tell me what you did.  I think it is a terminal value that you calculated a return on.


MS. LEA:  Are these in the evidence?  Is this something the Panel should refer to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am going to come to that right now.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I wanted to ask that is because I wanted to make sure that it is understood what was changed in the spreadsheet that has already been filed.


And you have a concern about one of calculations.  I get that.  We will come back to that.


Mr. Chairman, I didn't know how to provide you with a hard copy, because we were only changing one thing but it goes throughout.  And as we can see, the item that Mr. Struthers is referring to is way out in the corner of the spreadsheet, and so we probably wouldn't have printed it.


So I need the Board's guidance as to what you would like in terms of a hard copy, or whether the electronic copy would be good enough.


I am only going to ask a couple of questions about it.  It can be put on the screen.  Mr. Thiessen has it.  But at some point I have to file a hard copy, I think.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  For reference right now, for the purposes of us following your questions, the electronic version will do, but we will ultimately have to have an exhibit in a hard copy.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I propose, if you are agreeable, Mr. Chairman, is that I will just look at what my friend -- what the company produced as a printed copy for the interrogatory response, and I will print exactly the same things.  Is that acceptable?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  Mr. Rogers, do you have any comment on this?


MR. ROGERS:  No, I don't think so.  If I understand it correctly, I think that is satisfactory.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  So I would like to have an exhibit number attached to this, and Mr. Shepherd will be providing a hard copy for us to file in the hard copy exhibit file.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  We're at K7.3.  So that will be the -- this electronic copy that we are seeing will also be K7.3, and we will receive a hard copy in due course from Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K7.3:  REVISION TO RESPONSE TO UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It may be worthwhile just to close the circle and indicate that this is a -- this is an alteration to a spreadsheet that was filed in response to the CCC interrogatory.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, It is an alteration to J3.4.  J3.4 was provided to us electronically.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There were two attachments, and we have altered both the attachments the same way.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  It is an alteration to the undertaking response J3.4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I wonder if you could -- do you have an electronic copy there?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think I have a hard copy of it, as well.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It should be on your screens, as well.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can go to the calculations page, on the calculations page, which I think we have here, you will see box B249.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's at the bottom of the page.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you see that?  And that is the number that, in yours, was 838 in one case and 849 in the other case, right, the net present value of the revenue requirement for Bruce-to-Milton.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't have the page to refer back to you.  Subject to check, I will assume we're talking about the same numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you increase the discount rate, then the net present value will be lower; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this example, it says at the top here, if you take a look, it says, "accelerate CWIP, yes".  So this is an example of CWIP in rate base; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It shows the net present value at a given discount rate is $579.6 million; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  You have to give me the discount rate, though.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you go up to A224, if you could possibly go up there, Mr. Thiessen, the discount rate is 10.2427 percent.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is just an average of all of the totals across 52 years?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I suspect -- if you could go out to the last year on that column?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, last column on that row.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All the way out to about BA, or something?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe at that point you are saying that I earned 45 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your cost of capital is 45 percent.


MR. STRUTHERS:  My cost of capital in 2062 is 45 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you have a high income tax number?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I... I am baffled on your calculation, how I go from 11.6 percent in 2061 to 45 percent in 2062, and yet you tell me that that calculation makes sense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, take a look at line 222 there, and you will see that your income tax number, and this is your number - I didn't touch it - is 49 million for 2062.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And on a present value discounted basis, using the correct weighted average cost of capital, I think that you will find that you end up with the right number.  But what you are using here is, in order to come up with your weighted average cost of capital, is a return of 45 percent.


You are telling me that in 2062 that I have a return of 45 percent in that particular year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's go back at this a different way.


The 49 million there is your number; right?  On line 222 that is your number?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you would scroll up the page, please?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think what you are looking at is the terminal value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the income tax calculation.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think if you look at the line under depreciation, you will see the terminal value for depreciation of 133 million?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am suggesting, perhaps, that the more correct way to do under your methodology would be to continue to run that out into the future.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Therefore, a return would not necessarily be 45 percent, but something less than that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Run that out on the assumption that the asset will continue to be used and useful?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I am basically saying you are not going to recover that asset value in one year, unless the Ontario Energy Board is going to allow me to recover $133 million worth of depreciation in that year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, of course that would be one of these premature asset retirements; right?  When an asset is retired before it is fully depreciated, then -- except that of course under your -- under accounting, it is depreciated; right?  This is only CCA.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The accounting and the -- the accounting methodology and the Board's methodology for recovery do not necessarily have to align.  All I am suggesting is that the manner in which you are using the calculation is not necessarily the correct methodology that one would use if one was looking at this from a standard financial methodology.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we will move on.


I wonder if you could take a look at the other -- you remember that net present value of 579.6 million, and then if we could look at the other calculation, this is attachment 2, I think, and same place, at B249, I think.


And there, using the same methodology, so presumably you have the same problem at the end, it is 574.7 million is the net present value?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I see the number, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Could we go down to your discount rate?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Or go to your discount rate?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is 10.08 percent, right, again, calculated exactly the very same way; right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have some difficulty in understanding why you would use different discount rates to compare the same models but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Help me understand that.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, when we did the calculations, attachment 1, attachment 2, the calculations were both worked back to the same weighted average cost of capital.  That is the appropriate way to look at two different scenarios and to identify which scenario makes sense.


What you are doing here is you're adjusting the discount rates between the two scenarios.  I am not sure that you end up, from a -- if I was looking at it from a standard methodology, I am not sure that the calculation that you have makes sense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you are trying to determine whether it is better for the ratepayers --


MR. STRUTHERS:  If the company's return on equity -- or the company's return on equity is supposed to be the same in both cases, then why aren't the weighted average cost of capital the same in both cases?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Please let me finish my question.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you are trying to understand the impact on the ratepayers of CWIP in rate base, is it not appropriate to make sure that the actual cost of capital that they are paying is the same as the discount rate, so that the time value of money doesn't get in the way of the calculation?  Isn't that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  But, again, I'm a little bit at a loss as to why the ratepayers -- this is using your calculation -- why the ratepayers' cost of capital would change between the two models, when the models are supposed to be doing the same thing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The comparisons are supposed to be on an equal-footed basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am right, am I not, that the comparison is not as sensitive to the AFUDC as it is to the discount rate?  Isn't that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The model is sensitive to the discount rate, yes.  I think Mr. Aiken pointed out yesterday -- and I misspoke.  I was thinking cost, and I was talking about revenue requirement.  I think he has identified the point where the two cross from a discount rate perspective.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is 7.8 percent?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that is correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the cost of capital, the fully-loaded cost of capital of the ratepayers, is more than 7.8 percent, it is worse for them to have CWIP in rate base, isn't it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If, on an after tax basis, using the correct tax methodology, then the answer would be, yes, but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I am looking here at why is CWIP in rate base less costly, and I didn't see anywhere where it says, Well, this is all about the discount rate.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well --


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, my comment in the margin is, "this is misleading".  It is misleading, isn't it?


MR. ROGERS:  Let him answer.  He has been trying to answer for a couple of minutes.  Go ahead and answer whatever the question was we started at.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, could you please ask the question again?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  This section, why the CWIP in rate base is less costly, doesn't refer to the sensitivity of the discount rate.  It talks about AFUDC, and blah, blah, blah, and I am telling you and I am putting to you that that is misleading, because the real reason is the difference in discount rates.  Simple as that.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, while the wording may not have identified that a weighted average cost of capital was used, I believe the attachments clearly do indicate weighted average cost of capital was used in the calculations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question on this is a more conceptual one.


You gave evidence earlier today and in writing that the IFRS change to the capitalization policy is something that the Board should respond to by saying:  No, we are going to go back to CGAAP.  We are going to have a methodology that gives us basically CGAAP, so we that we don't load up a whole lot of costs at the front end.


That is what you said, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We suggested that the Board may wish to take the approach that we are recommending, because it doesn't cause an increase in rates as a result of an accounting change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you are proposing in CWIP in rate base is exactly that, an accounting change, an accounting change that loads up costs earlier in the process; isn't that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What I have suggested to the Board is I am giving the Board an option.  CWIP was an item that the Board discussed in terms of new projects.  I am saying to the Board:  Here is an alternative that, on an overall revenue requirement perspective, has a lower cost than using the AFUDC methodology.


Alternatively, if the Board wishes to do so, the project can be dealt with through AFUDC, but the project cost is going to be substantially higher, and that is what we are looking for an agreement from the Board on.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If the IFRS capitalization change goes through, if it is allowed by this Board, the exemption isn't granted, then the ratepayers are charged earlier and they have less costs later, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The rate base is less.  Therefore my borrowing is less, but my cash requirements, in order -- because I am no longer borrowing against rate base, I need more cash upfront, so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So in the IFRS situation, in the capitalization situation, what you are saying is:  This 200 million, don't charge it now.  Let's leave it in rate base and charge it over the life of the asset.  Right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What we suggested was that as a result of an accounting change, that ratepayers were being adversely impacted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you are proposing at the same time to the Board –-


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to charge the ratepayers earlier the costs of Bruce-to-Milton, so that they have less costs later; isn't that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  In effect, what we're saying to the Board is:  Here is an option.  The Board can make that decision around how it wants to address that option, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have just one more brief question, Mr. Chairman, and then I am done.


And that is with respect to -- I am finished with CWIP, thank you.


And it is with respect to pensions.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that you are the pension guy.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think I am the lucky recipient, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You may not be IFRS, but you are "Mr. Pension," right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I know a little bit about it, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 60, you were asked by Board Staff to deal with this issue in a little bit more detail.


Do you have that in front of you?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  I am in the wrong place, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It has a bunch of attachments to it, as well.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Yes, I am there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I just have just a couple of questions on this.


Do I understand correctly that that $140 million increase that came about as a result of the valuation results on the first page of this, that is not something that affects rate base -- that affects revenue requirement immediately, but sooner or later, the ratepayers have to pay that, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is not a $140 million increase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  Okay.  So explain, then.  Help me.


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I understand it currently, we are recovering, I believe, 120, I think is the amount.  So it is the difference between 120 and 140.


So you are looking at a $20 million change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that 20 million is in the revenue requirement right now?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, it's not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you are proposing that the Board deal with that through the deferral account -- or the variance account?  Sorry.


MR. STRUTHERS:  What we are proposing to do is, if you take that $20 million, it represents both distribution and the transmission business.  So it is both businesses.  It is allocated both to capital, because it is embedded within the standard labour rate, and it is also in the OM&A charges.


By the time you go through all of that gyration, and you were to allocate roughly into OM&A, for the transmission business, you would be roughly allocating about $5 million.


We are proposing that there are probably other gives and takes, for example, with respect to PWU and net zero, that you could probably offset those two.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, you are not asking for it in a variance account?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, we are not.  What we are asking for variance – what we are asking for in the variance accounts is differences from the 100 and -- I think it is $139 million, because it will change based on number of employees and other items.


Sorry, the 2010 number goes into variance, but the -- sorry, I am looking forward into 2011.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So 2011 and 2012, what we are proposing is that where it differs off of the 140, as a result of other changes -- number of employees, whatever -- that we would put that into variance.  But the difference between the 120 and 140 we would not put into the variance account in 2011.


As I say, there are other gives and takes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  I have no further questions, then.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


If there is nothing else that we need to deal with before we adjourn, we will rise until -- the Board has a bit of a commitment over the break.  So we will come back at 10 to 2:00.


MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Chairman, could I raise one issue that I would ask you to think about over the lunch break?  Which is why I am doing it now.


Panel 5 is next.  Panel 5 is the power advisory group, and it is to talk about the rate design that AMPCO is proposing.


Generally speaking in these matters, there isn't a traditional list, as one would consider it in terms of litigation.  There isn't -- there aren't two clear sides.


This one, this issue, the issue that will be dealt with by panel 5 is a bit different.  There are clearly distinct issues.  And not surprisingly, we are critical of -- AMPCO is critical of the work which was done by the power advisory group, which was -- I am not surprising anybody by saying this -- equally critical, if not more critical of the work that was proposed by AMPCO.


There are really only two major cross-examinations of the power advisory group, other than AMPCO's, and it is by VECC and by the Board.


I spoke to Mr. Buonaguro about this, and because Mr. Buonaguro is a principled guy, he understands the value of VECC preceding AMPCO in terms of its cross-examination.


It is normally the procedure here for the Board to follow everybody's cross-examination.  And what I am asking is for you to think over the break of changing that order so that the Board would precede AMPCO, and we would be the last to cross-examine.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will take that under advisement.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we will advise accordingly.  Thank you very much.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:34 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:08 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.


MS. LEA:  I have one preliminary matter, Mr. Chairman, when you are ready.


MR. ROGERS:  As do I.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, sir.  First, I can advise the Board that we have filed additional undertakings this afternoon as follows:  J5.1, J5.4, J5.10, J6.1, J6.2, J6.3, J6.12 and J6.13.


Next, sir, can I address an issue?  I don't know what Ms. Lea wishes to speak about, but this has to do with the confidential material which we received just before lunch from Board Staff.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I realized, of course, that my clients hadn't signed the undertaking and, hence, I wasn't able to talk to anybody about it over the lunch hour.


When I look at the declaration, I see that your form declaration says, in point number 2:

"I am not a director or employee of a party to this proceeding."


Of course, my clients are a party to the proceeding.  So I am asking for the Board's relaxation of your declaration form, in accordance with your power under your rules, just to relax the rule by taking out number 2 so that I may have several Hydro employees receive -- execute the declaration and assist me in interpreting it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has no difficulty with that, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there anything further, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  No, sir.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Over the lunch break, I received a couple of enquiries from counsel who are on the record in the hearing, but are not present today, as to when the matter of the production of the material referred to in K6.2, what Mr. Rogers was just discussing and we have distributed -- when that might occur.


I don't know if you can assist us with that.  I don't know when my friends are ready to argue it, as well, which of course is important.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will hear argument on this subject in camera on Monday morning.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I know that this has the potential to or this will deflect us from our schedule, to some extent, but we will be encouraging counsel to be very precise in their argument, no duplicate of arguments.  If people can associate themselves with the arguments of others, we expect them to do so, and so that we can get through this and get on with the business of the hearing accordingly.


Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, is that for me to begin with panel 4?  Did it look like I was going to say something?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.  I thought you were going to say something.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I thought that's what you thought.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You were faking it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I twitched.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, that is fine.


Is there anything else of a preliminary nature that we need to deal with?


So I think it Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Your cross-examination?


MS. LEA:  Yes, I do have cross-examination for panel 4.  I'm sorry, Mr. Buonaguro is not cross-examining?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  He was deceiving us.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am.


MR. QUESNELLE:  He wasn't sure if we were moving on.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, you are?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I thought you were indicating that you thought I had something to say about what you just said.


[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I was saying "no".


MS. LEA:  Somebody needs to cross-examine panel 4.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am ready for panel 4 right now.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Proceed.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.


Good afternoon, panel.  I regret to admit that I have no book of documents with my references, but I have taken over the audio-visual system.   So I will -- anything that I personally refer to will be up on the screen, and I will use highlighting to show you what I am talking about.


I don't have very much, in any event, for this particular panel, so it should be fairly quick and painless.


A preliminary matter.  Somebody warned me that some of the evidence references for export revenues fall under your panel, but I don't think this is panel I want to ask the questions to.  I want to make sure I don't miss it.


Specifically, I think it is one or two interrogatories were put over there -- put on to your panel.


MR. FRASER:  I think the idea was that we would deal with the historical variance account for export revenue, but I think --


MR. BUONAGURO:  So the mechanics of the account as opposed to what actually happened?


MR. FRASER:  And also the request for disposition of historical balances.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's good.  I don't have to ask you any questions about that.  That is for panel 6, I think.  Thank you.


Second, you had discussion today with Mr. Shepherd about the HST/GST account, and he focussed on the -- I guess the pure HST amounts as opposed to the impact on the working capital, which you discussed with Mr. Aiken the day before.


Do you recall those two conversations?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I recall the conversation.  I think there was an undertaking from Mr. Aiken with respect to HST impact on working capital, and I think we may have replied to that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  And I am not worried about the details.  I think it had to do with some of the assumptions that were in the calculation.


My only -- I just want to clean up something that Mr. Shepherd was talking about in terms of, for example, the revenue impact if there were to be a variance account.


My understanding is that, currently, the deferral account that you are proposing would capture not only the, I think, approximately $9 million, for example, in 2011 of what I call pure HST impact, but also capture the impact on working capital, which I think is in the order of magnitude of a $10 million reduction in the rate base associated with working capital for 2011?


MR. FRASER:  I think what I said yesterday is that the variance account would capture the revenue requirement impact of the PST, which would include the working capital portion.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So we can tack on to the conversation you had with Mr. Shepherd today the working capital requirement, which I think is much smaller?  I think the revenue requirement impact is in the order of $1 million per year, something like that.


MR. FRASER:  Subject to check.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, okay.  I just wanted to close it off, because he didn't mention that part of it at all, so I just wanted to make sure it wasn't forgotten.  Thank you.


Now, I did distribute by e-mail one exhibit for use in this cross for me, and it had to do with IFRS.  Did you receive copies of that?


MR. FRASER:  I've got that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It is a letter dated September 2nd, 2010 from Hydro One Brampton Networks Inc. to the Board.


Since I sent it out to everybody, we might want to give it an exhibit number.  I should mention that much of what I was going to ask I think has been covered.


MS. LEA:  Have you provided hard copies, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you gave me copies.  I have some copies here, and I think you took copies for the Board.


MS. LEA:  Okay, great.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It was a couple of days ago.  I have extra copies, if you need them.


MS. LEA:  Do you happen to have one hard copy with you, Mr. Buonaguro?  Thank you.


[Mr. Buonaguro passes copy to Ms. Lea]


MR. BUONAGURO:  I will put up the section that I am referring to on the screen, as well.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  And the exhibit number would be K7.4.  Is that right?


MR. THIESSEN:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  K7.4, please.

EXHIBIT NO. K7.4:  LETTER FROM HYDRO ONE BRAMPTON NETWORKS INC. TO BOARD DATED SEPTEMBER 2, 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am putting up on the screen page 2 of the letter, and I highlighted the three sections I wanted to touch on.


I think the first and third sections here, the one called "Expense and Direct Overheads" and the section "Gains and Losses on the Early Retirement of Assets", those essentially mirror the two exceptions you are asking for?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  As I understand it, Brampton is asking for the -- well, had asked originally, when they did an IFRS submission, for the same gains and losses account that we have asked for, and they had not asked for the exception on the overheads, because they had an offset, in common with most other LDCs, and that the depreciation impact would offset that, to some degree.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Hmm-hmm.  Now, and that is -- what actually I want to ask you about is this middle one, which you are not asking for an exception for.  I just want to clarify how this particular IFRS impact is worked into your 2012 revenue requirement, and why it is or is not a concern and why you don't need a deferral account for that.


MR. FRASER:  Okay.  This is a little confusing, because Brampton in this letter is actually moving its IFRS submission for 2011 onto a CGAAP basis.  So they did leave in, as I understand it, the IFRS depreciation changes as a change in estimate under CGAAP.


But what they did was they were asking to move back to a half-year rule for accounting purposes, which isn't acceptable under CGAAP.


So as I understand your question, I think the thing to clarify is that most LDCs were using OEB-mandated depreciation rates, whereas Hydro One has historically used depreciation rates were that set through our external depreciation consultant.


For the reason that OEB rates tend to be a little bit more aggressive than an external consultant would generally arrive at, i.e., that they're shorter lives and probably depreciation expense would be higher, LDCs will see a change under IFRS, moving to depreciation rates set either by their own management or through an external review, versus using the OEB rates.


We won't see that change.  And the reason is because -- because our asset componentization and our underlying depreciation parameters under CGAAP are virtually unchanged under IFRS, the only impact on our depreciation expense is the loss of group depreciation, and that is what we have asked for a variance account to accommodate.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So can you speak specifically to the half-year rule?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  Under Canadian GAAP, half-year rule is acceptable.  Under IFRS, it is not.


So under IFRS, you commence depreciating an asset in the month that it goes into service.  So that is the simplistic...


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that what you were doing, in any event?  Is that what you are telling me?


MR. FRASER:  We were using half-year rule.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. FRASER:  Under CGAAP.  We will be moving to monthly in-service down the road.  The --


MR. BUONAGURO:  By "down the road" you mean 2012?


MR. FRASER:  Well, 2012, but this isn't seen as on an average.  It is not seen as an impactive thing, moving from CGAAP to IFRS.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In this particular category?


MR. FRASER:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So essentially, yes, you are moving from half-year to the IFRS --


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  One of the things to appreciate is we haven't had an opportunity to run a full planning process on an IFRS basis yet.  That is one of the reasons we made the high-level assumption that CGAAP equals IFRS for 2012.


So as we move forward into refining our planning process, we will be probably more in a position to actually refine the use of the half-year rule for forecast purposes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it sounds like you are moving to the IFRS-related rule and moving away from the half-year rule in 2012?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.  And that would be consistent with the Board's report on using pure IFRS.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But the impact isn't so material that you would ask for an exception, like you did for the other two categories on this page?


MR. FRASER:  Right.  Correct.


Brampton is really, I guess, in a position to more precisely, or has been in a position to more precisely reflect the half-year rule, because they're looking at 2011 implementation for IFRS, versus two years out.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Fraser, could I ask you to keep your voice up?  You're close to Mr. Buonaguro, but it is hard for some of us to hear.


MR. FRASER:  My apologies.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just before you leave that, Mr. Buonaguro, just for the record, the Board wants the record to show that Ms. Conboy is seized of the application of Hydro One Brampton Networks Inc.


Now, this document that you submitted is on the public record in that case, and there is no characterization of the material here.  But just for the record.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That is how I got it, and the only reason we bring it is up is because it identified three issues, and we wanted to explore the symmetry between Hydro One Networks Brampton and Hydro One in terms of dealing with those issues.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


I can leave it at that, because you have spent a lot of time today speaking about IFRS with someone who actually knows a little bit about something in IFRS, so I am deferring to him.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That will teach you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I am going to move on to a little bit about CWIP.  It sounds like a song.


My understanding, just before I start, in speaking to Mr. Shepherd, you used the word -- you used the phrase that you are "presenting an option" to the Board with respect to CWIP.  Do you recall that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I did.  I was providing the Board the option of either proceeding with a CWIP alternative, or else putting the full cost of the project through an AFUDC methodology at the higher number, and putting that through for recovery.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And I don't want to use the word "indifferent" but it seemed to me the way you were describing that option, you were saying that from the company's perspective either was okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We are not indifferent about it.  Obviously, our preferred or recommended -- otherwise we wouldn't have presented the option.  We think that CWIP is probably beneficial to our customers.  But the Board may decide that because of the -- and this is a Board's decision -- the Board may decide that no, it doesn't make sense and they would prefer to have the rate deferred into -- or the increase in revenue deferred until another year.


I think what we were proposing here was:  Yes, we think it makes sense.  We think it is useful.  We think it follows the Board's policy with respect to new projects.  And we think it is a good test of that policy.  And we think it is probably very indicative to a partner or parties that may want to come into the transmission environment, and it gives them an opportunity to understand the Board's thinking.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you for that.


Now, moving into a more specific question on CWIP, I am going to turn up your Exhibit No. A, tab 11, schedule 5, page 8 of 11, which I think you touched on today already once.


My understanding is that this particular exhibit summarizes the treatment, the CWIP treatment that you are proposing for the Bruce-to-Milton line.  And you will see at the bottom of the page, I have highlighted what appears to be the revenue requirement impact for the two years.


I think you went through this with Mr. Crocker a little bit this morning?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I think we talked about the numbers, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So the revenue requirement impact in 2011 is 43.6 million, and the revenue requirement impact in 2012 is 26 million?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in a VECC interrogatory, which I will pull up -- and this is a very similar presentation.  This is interrogatory, Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 74, page 2 of 2.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you see I have highlighted -- I think it is a similar analysis, except that you have substituted, essentially, what I would call your blended cost-of-capital rate plus income tax for percentage return on rate base, based on the all-corporate mid-term average weighted bond yield.


With the corresponding effect at the bottom, where the revenue requirement impact of this proposal is $27.2 million in 2011, and $17.6 million in 2012.


Is that essentially what it is?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is my understanding.  It is just the return on the weighted bonds, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And so if you look at -- if I were to compare this one to the previous one under the "revenue requirement impact" box, in this particular box the only thing you have is return on debt, because you essentially you are recovering the debt costs associated with the CWIP?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Under the calculation under Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 74, the recovery is purely based on a recovery of debt, not on a recovery of the weighted average cost of capital.


So because the project includes capital, from an equity perspective, this doesn't include that.  This is just purely on the assumption that it was debt-financed.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And so if I were to be persuasive with the Board, assuming that the Board were to not simply reject the CWIP proposal out of hand, and I wanted to know the difference in revenue requirement impact between your proposal as it stands in the application and something which substitutes just this rate on putting something into rate base, the difference would be -- would be between the 43.6 in 2011 that we saw in the last exhibit and the 27.2 I see here?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  The 27.2 is purely a debt return.  There is no equity component to it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Similarly, the difference would be between the 17 -– sorry, the 26 million that we see in the previous exhibit and the 17.6 million we see here on this I-4-74, page 2?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


My understanding -- and I am not going to pretend to understand the tables that are in I-1 -- I think it is 122 or... beyond the test year, there is for 60 years or so.  My understanding is that beyond –- sorry, my understanding is that once the project goes into service, the tables would be identical, on either this option or the option that you presented in your evidence.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would have to run the numbers, but you are dealing with a difference -- different starting points, right?


So one has AFUDC in it, which is carried through.  I would have to look, but you may be correct, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to check.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


So based on the fact that in the 2011 and 2012 periods there is lower amounts, which I think is self-evident when you look at the two options, this option would be, at least from a consumers' perspective, slightly better?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Arguably, from a consumer's perspective, you could argue that the shareholder and the people of Ontario, who are the shareholders of Hydro One, are effectively subsidizing consumers, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Still better, though?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, it is just a matter of allocation of who is paying for what.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I will leave it at that.  Thank you very much.


And, lastly, I just wanted to go quickly over a summary of the deferral accounts that are being asked for clearance.  This is at Exhibit F1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1 of 2.  And I am just going to look at the table here.


I think this summarizes the different deferral accounts that you are seeking clearance of; is that right?


MR. FRASER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And we have five accounts.  Three are negative and two are positive, i.e., three are credits to ratepayers and two are debits?


MR. FRASER:  Again, correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I noticed that -- sorry, that was a mistake.


Am I correct that the three ones -- or the three accounts, export service credit, external secondary land use revenue, and external stations and E&CS revenue, are the three deferral accounts that you are seeking to discontinue?


MR. FRASER:  We haven't proposed to continue them.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So by default?


MR. FRASER:  Somewhat semantics.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And the two where you are recovering money from ratepayers are the ones where you are seeking specifically to continue?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that just a coincidence?


MR. FRASER:  I wouldn't say so.


MR. BUONAGURO:  No?


MR. FRASER:  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you want to expand on that?


MR. FRASER:  Well, sure.  The accounts where there are credits, we are gaining confidence that the parameters that are driving the amounts in revenue requirement, that there is less probability of significant variances going forward, and I think we have talked to that in some of the interrogatory responses.


The long-term planning cost account, I think we have provided some rationale as to why that is needed.


And the pension cost differential, with the actuarial valuation that has come in from Mercer's, we will have some amounts landing in it for 2010 that we already know about.  So that is needed, as well.


So I understand what you are saying in terms of a high level, but I think if you look at the rationale of each account and our positions for continuance versus not deeming them necessary in future, I think there is a rationale there that is on the record.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.


Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Ms. Lea.

Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, as with previous panels, this cross-examination will jump about a bit and try and fill in some gaps, and I would ask your indulgence for that.


I have provided a compendium to the witnesses.  I don't know whether the Board Panel has that yet.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We do not.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Thiessen is providing it to you.


MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, the first thing I would like you to do is ask you to compare two tables in Exhibit D1, D1, tab 1, schedule 2 and D1, tab 3, schedule 1.  They're the first two documents in the compendium.


And these tables deal with the capital budget.  I will give you a moment to turn those up.


So in the Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, we are looking at page 2, and there is a table there, table 1, which you can see on page 1 of the compendium.


And this is the summary of the test year capital budget for 2011 and 2012, is that correct?


MS. VINES:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And you are asking for the Board's approval of the numbers for 2011 and 2012 that appear in the totals column?


MS. VINES:  Yes, we are.


MS. LEA:  And if we look at the next page, which is in-service capital additions, this table provides the capital amounts that will be booked to the test year rate base, as I understand it.  It says 870.6 million in 2011 and 1.6 billion in 2012.


And these additions are reflected in the calculation of the test year revenue requirement; is that correct?


MS. VINES:  Yes.  The in-service capital additions would be reflected in the revenue requirement, although, as we have talked before, the half-year rule would apply.


MS. LEA:  Yes, yes.  Okay.


Now, as I understand it, 1.6 billion in the capital -- of that amount in the capital additions in 2012 is about 670 million due to the addition of the Bruce-to-Milton project?


MS. VINES:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  So that in the absence of the Bruce-to-Milton project, there would be about $950 million of other work?


MS. VINES:  That appears to be correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So I am trying to understand.  There is a difference between the proposed capital budget and the capital additions, because the capital budget is larger than the amount will be -- that will be booked to rate base.


And we have talked about -- I know there is a difference arising due to the multi-year nature of the capital projects, but I am just trying to understand -- perhaps I can put it this way.


If the Board approves the proposed capital budget and Hydro One, for whatever reason, does not spend the amount proposed, will you be overcollecting in revenue?  In other words, are you going to spend this money if we approve it?


MS. VINES:  I'm sorry, what was the question?  Are we going to...


MS. LEA:  Spend the money if the Board approves it?


MS. VINES:  Yes.  We believe that is what we need to spend.


MS. LEA:  And if it turns out you don't need to, then this would go down accordingly?


MS. VINES:  Yes.  That spend would likely occur in a later year.


MS. LEA:  All right.  At least for those projects that have an in-service date outside the test year, in any event?


MS. VINES:  Correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Can you describe for me, briefly, what would be the financial effect on Hydro One of the Board's finding that it could not approve this capital budget that occurs at D1, tab 3, schedule 1?  Is there a financial effect on the company if the Board does not approve that level of capital budget?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There would obviously be a financial effect from the point of view of the corporation's borrowing requirements.


So, for example, if the capital was less than that, then the corporation's borrowing requirements would obviously be less.  You would have to work through what the impact was, in terms of in-service dates, to determine what the revenue impact would be, and, therefore, what the cash flow impact would be.


But my initial response would be, to the extent the capital is smaller, then the borrowing requirements are less.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.


I would like to clear up something that was bounced to this panel from a previous panel.  I think it was panel 1 that gave you this question, and it has to do with some details with respect to the Bruce-to-Milton project.


You were just talking to Mr. Buonaguro about some of this, and I would like you to look at the next two exhibits that occur in this compendium, particularly Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5 and at page 7.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Page 7?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5, I have given you pages 7 and 8, I think.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Sorry.  I'm with you.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  You have indicated the incremental revenue requirement for the CWIP in rate base proposal, and in 2011 this is to be $43.6 million, and in 2012 it is to be $26 million.


And then if the Bruce-to-Milton project is placed in service in 2012, the revenue requirement is an additional $36.6 million.


So when we look at lines 24 to 25 -- line 25, you indicate the total revenue requirement in 2012 is 62.6 million.


Have I understood the evidence correctly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, you have.


MS. LEA:  I would like you to compare that, please, to Interrogatory No. 22 from Board Staff, and you will find that at page 6 of the compendium.


And it was this apparent difference that panel 1 asked you to explore.  So in attachment 1, I have given you the answer, as well as the attachment, I think.


So if you go to page 11 of the compendium, you will see attachment 1 there, and line 18 in attachment 1 provides the incremental revenue requirement.


We are okay in 2011, but under 2012, the incremental revenue requirement is $55.5 million, and we don't understand the difference between $62.2 million in the prefiled evidence and 55.5 in line 18 in attachment 1 to Board Staff IR 22.


I hope you were given notice of this, Mr. Struthers.  I think you were.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I just want to make sure I give you the right references.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, I hate to say I was looking for the material while you were talking, but if you could give me the numbers again, then I can --


MS. LEA:  Certainly.  It is Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5, and on page 7 of that, at lines 22 to 25, you give us the incremental revenue requirements in your prefiled evidence.


So that is the first thing, that paragraph at the bottom of page 7, and that is at page 3 of the compendium.


In then the first comparison is to page 1 of attachment 1 of the answer to Board Staff Interrogatory 122, which is Exhibit I, tab 1, 122.  That is found at page 11 of the compendium.


We don't understand the reason why the prefiled evidence gives us $62.6 million as the incremental revenue requirement for 2012, and the answer to the IR indicates that that's -- oh, I don't know -- seven or so less, $55.5 million.


If you would rather take an undertaking, we can do this, but I think that I was advised by my friend to ask this panel about this difference.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would actually prefer to take an undertaking, if I could.


MS. LEA:  That's fine.  So I think what I will do before I give it an undertaking number is give you the entire question.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  And then we can deal with it that way.


All right.  That same page in the compendium, page 11, which is page 1 to attachment 1 of 122, if you look at line 11, there is incremental rate base given, as well.


Under 2012, the incremental rate base is given as $333.4 million.


Then, again, if you look at the prefiled evidence, which is Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5, page 7, at the same paragraph, you indicate that the incremental rate base is $336 million, which is one-half of the 672.


So that difference of $3 million, or a little less than three million, we don't understand.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  Lastly, you indicate in the prefiled evidence -- and I am going to turn you to a different page.  It is page 9 of the prefiled evidence, and it is right at the top of the page.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Actually, I believe the answer has to do with the CCA classes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And how the calculation is done.  But I think it would probably be easier for me to try to give you a written answer, rather than try to take you through capital cost allowance and tax implications.


MS. LEA:  Gracious, yes.


So let's have an undertaking number for that, then, please.


J7.2, for those two apparent inconsistencies, both in the same undertaking, please, J7.2, and that is a reconciliation of Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5, to Board Staff Interrogatory 122, attachment 1.


MS. LEA:  My last question in this series, you indicate an incremental rate base amount.  Pardon me, you say that the -- okay.  Sorry.  Different page.  New page.


The prefiled evidence, at page 9 of the prefiled, which is page 5 of the compendium, Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5, page 9.


Mr. Buonaguro, you are doing a bang-up job here.  It is amazing.


At the top of that page, you say that Hydro One -- rather you say that 393.6 million enters the rate base as of December 31st, 2010.


Does that mean you will be collecting depreciation on this amount in '11 and '12?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We don't intend to collect depreciation until we go into service.


Going backwards a little bit, to maybe try to remove your request –- undertaking, 55.5 is the right number.  Does that help?


And the difference is it is the CCA classes, but we can certainly address that.


MS. LEA:  I understand.  Just one moment.


Perhaps you could just give us a very brief explanation now, and we can probably remove that undertaking.


What are the CCA classes, and how do they drive the difference?  Briefly, sir, not quantitatively.


MR. STRUTHERS:  When the initial calculation was done for the higher number, the 57.5, we didn't break down the CCA classes in enough detail.


When we went back and did the calculation under attachment A, we did break the classes down.


And what we looked at was the land component.  In our initial calculations, we hadn't made an assumption around the land component associated with the CCA class, and as we got into the numbers, it actually ended up being incorrect in terms of what we thought we were going to be able to get through land versus what we were going to be able to have to –- well, expropriate, effectively.


But I can provide you a written explanation.


MS. LEA:  I don't think we need anything further than that, sir.


As long as we understand the source of that difference, we are fine.  So I would ask, then, that Undertaking J7.2 -- it was, wasn't it -- be stricken from the record.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  I would like to turn to a different topic, please, and for this I would like you to look at Board Staff IR No. 2.  It turns up as page 15 of the compendium.  This deals with the Global Insight forecast.


In that interrogatory answer, you indicate that the Global Insight December 2008 forecast was the most recent available at the time the business plan instructions were issued.


Do you believe, sir, that it is appropriate to use, for this application, such an outdated forecast?


MR. STRUTHERS:  You have to understand that the business planning process that we go through is a very complex process, and if you look at the timetable that we went through it, that was the most current available as at that time.


We do both distribution and transmission organizations at the same time, because we build a corporate business plan, and the timing of when we did it, that was the best information.  That was the information that was provided to the lines of business for a planning purpose.


For us to go back and completely redo that would effectively take us back through the entire process.


MS. LEA:  So you would have to revise the entire business planning, as well as this application?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Certainly the business planning.  I wouldn't know how it might impact the application itself.


So what we provided you with is the numbers that we are working with.


MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  What happens if you determine that there is -- there has been a big change in that forecast?  Do you have some protocol you follow in that sort of circumstance?


MR. STRUTHERS:  First of all, I don't believe there has been --


MS. LEA:  No, I'm not saying there is this time.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We would have to look at it and assess whether -- I guess you would have to look at it and assess it.


In this case, I don't believe there is a big change.  I think historically it's been sort of -- it's a forecast.  We are using the best available information at the time we put it together.  These are forecast numbers, and that is what we are applying and that is what we are proceeding to work with.  It is a forecast.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


If we could look at the next piece in the compendium, beginning at page 16 going over to 17, which is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 38, and you were asked about this a little bit yesterday, I believe, or rather Tuesday.


You discuss in this interrogatory cuts to the 2011 budget.  Did these budget cuts related to rate impact-inspired reduction, did they also affect the 2012 year?


MS. VINES:  Yes, they did.


MS. LEA:  And is there anywhere in the evidence an accounting of the cuts, or a description of how they -- what was cut in 2012?


MS. VINES:  There is not a detailed description in the evidence, and I apologize for that.  When we responded to this IR, we focussed on the 25-percent reference, which really led us to focussing on 2011.


I do have figures available for you with respect to 2012, that I could give you at a high level for comparison purposes, if that would be helpful.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  I think it would.  If that is not difficult to produce, we would ask for that undertaking.


MS. VINES:  Okay.  Or I could give you those numbers right now.


MS. LEA:  Oh, certainly, yes, if you have them to hand.  Yes.


MS. VINES:  I will stick to a fairly high level, and you can tell me if that is sufficient detail.


But for 2011 as an example, looking at total sustaining OM&A, it was a reduction of 12.9 million.


MS. LEA:  For 2012 or 2011?


MS. VINES:  Sorry, 2011.  I am just giving you comparable numbers.


So the 2012 equivalent is $11.3 million reduction.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MS. VINES:  At the shared services level, the 2011 reduction in the evidence was 6.5, the 2012 equivalent is $8.6 million reduction, for a total bottom line reduction in 2012 of $19.9 million.  So quite similar to 2011, a little bit larger reduction.


MS. LEA:  One moment, please.


We are not going to ask you for significant detail here, but perhaps I can ask you this more general question and you can answer it by way of undertaking, if you so choose.


We see, by the chart at page 2 of Board Staff IR 38, the breakdown roughly within those categories that you have given.


If there is anything in 2012 that is very different where some of these categories go to zero and another one is very high, perhaps you could provide that information.  Otherwise, I presume we can assume that the level of cuts in these subcategories are reasonably similar to those in 2011?


MS. VINES:  Yes, I think you can assume that.  In fact, I can confirm that right now.  The categories are identical between each year, with just some variations up and down in terms of the magnitude of the reduction.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Turning to the next question, please, it relates to Board Staff IR 60, which appears at page 19 of the compendium.


And here we've included the answer on the cover page of attachment 1 and page 1 of attachment 1, and this has to do with the pension plan.


What I would like to do is understand a little better the terms that are used in the page 1 of the attachment, which occurs at page 21 of the compendium.


What is current service cost?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's the present value of the cost for what I would say is the existing employee structure.


MS. LEA:  And estimated required employee contributions?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be the contributions that would be made by employees against that cost.


MS. LEA:  So is it correct to say, then, that the employees pay about 20 percent of the cost of the pension plan, just looking at, you know, 23 out of 114?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Roughly, yes.  From a current service perspective, yes.


MS. LEA:  Do you know how that compares with the percentage that is paid by employees in other defined benefit plans, say government or banks or large businesses that have defined benefit plans?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know.


MS. LEA:  Could you find out?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I guess it would be an undertaking, so what specifically are you looking for?


MS. LEA:  Well...


MR. STRUTHERS:  Against what categories?


MS. LEA:  Right.  The purpose of my question is to understand whether this is in line, in general, with other defined benefit pension plans.


So what I would suggest, perhaps, is have a look at the Ontario Pension Board.  Maybe -- I don't know what banks, if any, still have a defined pension plan, but if you could look at one or two large banks?


If you are aware of any large business corporations that still have defined benefit plans, one or two comparators, and that would be sufficient.


MR. STRUTHERS:  What I should say is that the pension contributions by employees are very much governed by the labour contracts that are in place.  So it is very difficult for us to change the employee contribution without actually physically changing the employment contract in place.


So a lot of -- where we are is effectively there through history.  It is legacy.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.


Would you be willing to undertake to do that comparison for us?


MR. STRUTHERS:  To the extent that there is publicly available information, we can try that.  I think we may be able to get something like OPB's.  The others I am not sure about.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.  To the extent possible, then, best efforts.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, okay.


MS. LEA:  J7.2, please.  That will be J7.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.2:   TO PROVIDE EXAMPLES OF OTHER COMPANIES' ON ESTIMATED REQUIRED EMPLOYEE PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.


What are going concern special payments, going back to that page in the interrogatory?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So, they relate to -- one of the valuations that is done is a valuation based on a going-concern basis.  To the extent that there is a deficit, there are certain payments that need to be made against that deficit.  So that is what those calculations are against.


MS. LEA:  So...


MR. STRUTHERS:  There are a number of valuations that are done to come up with what is a blended pension payment.


MS. LEA:  And these are amounts paid by Hydro One, the corporation, and not by the employees?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  And --


MR. STRUTHERS:  It relates to basically an unfunded liability in the plan.


MS. LEA:  How long will these sorts of payments go on; do you know?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We do a valuation of the plan every three years.  The next cycle in this, it will be valued at that point in time.  It depends on what the pension plan -- where it sits at that time, in terms of whether there is an unfunded portion of liability.


If there is an unfunded liability, then we will be making payments at least for the next following three years.  Again, we will do a valuation at that point in time to determine whether we have an unfunded liability.  It just continues on that basis.


Therefore, to the extent that the market comes back -- and this is very much an equity-driven plan.  To the extent that the stock markets and equity markets come back substantially, that could be done in three years.


MS. LEA:  But just to be clear, the underfunding risk is borne by Hydro One and not by the employees?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is a situation where the plan is underfunded.  So, yes, it is a risk of the plan.


MS. LEA:  What are solvency special payments?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, there are a number of calculations that are done on a pension plan.


There is what I would call the current cost of service, there is the going concern, and then there is a solvency.  And they are different calculations.  Depending on where you sit against each of those calculations, there are -- as I understand it, against the Pension Benefits Act, there are certain payments that have to be made.


MS. LEA:  But there is nothing listed for 2010, anyway?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  And the reason for that is we went to a smoothing calculation, which -- and we are also in a position where, when do you that, there is no requirement to make that additional payment.  Had we been required to make that payment, had we not gone with a smoothing calculation, the additional payment would have been close to $20 million.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


You discussed with Mr. Shepherd, a little bit, the answer given in the front page of the interrogatory.  I'm looking at page 19 of the compendium.  I didn't understand part of that answer.


These increases, these incremental amounts, do I understand correctly these will not be recorded in a deferral account?  What I am trying to understand is:  Are you asking for recovery in the test year, and, if you are not, what is happening with these amounts?


MR. STRUTHERS:  In 2010, the difference will go into a deferral account.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  2011 and 2012, the company will absorb that, the OM&A portion.


MS. LEA:  So for the 2011 and 2012, then, there is no impact on rates in the test years or for any year going forward?


MR. STRUTHERS:  For 2011 and 2012 there is no impact.


MS. LEA:  And these amounts themselves won't come back to haunt us at a later time?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The OM&A portion will not come back in 2011 and 2012 to haunt you.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  All right, just one moment.


Let's please have a look at something that you began to touch on a few moments ago, which is pension plan performance.  And if we look at Board Staff Interrogatory 61, which begins at page 22 of the compendium?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Now, does this performance indicate that you are just slightly above market indices and you have a 61st percentile rating for this plan?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What it means is that we rank in the 61st percentile.  So, arguably, you could say that we are, at that point in time, below the median.


MS. LEA:  Do you know if that has changed since this interrogatory was answered?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It will vary up and down.  We have a significant amount of money held in equities.  Therefore, depending on the market performance, it will go up and down significantly.


So August was not a bad month in terms of market performance.  September so far has been a very good month, and because we are heavily weighted in equities, the plan performance will actually be better than other plans that may have a different mix of equities and -- equities and fixed incomes.


MS. LEA:  So you have anticipated my next question, and that was the problem with equities would have affected other plans besides Hydro One.


And what you are indicating is that, depending on the asset mix in the plan, you will perform better or worse going with the equities in the market?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  And also with respect to the fixed-income product, so for example, we have Real Return Bonds, which are an inflation hedge, and because we have an inflation requirement within the pension plan, that particular item is held for that specific liability and it is a match.


But right now, for example, Real Return Bonds, there seems to be a view in the world that we will be going through a deflationary period, so Real Return Bonds are actually low, but having said that, Real Return Bonds in Canada are actually fairly illiquid, so it is difficult to get in and out of that market.


But it is a specific hedge against a liability.  So it does impact the performance of the plan.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


You indicated also in your interrogatory that you monitor the performance of your managers and replace any unable to meet the mandate for which they were hired, and you indicate that some were changed.


Can you give us any more details about that?  Not who so much as how many or what percentage of managers were changed?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So far this year, we have replaced five of 22.


MS. LEA:  And do you believe that is sufficient for now?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There is a cost to replacing them.  So we want to make sure that we don't move out of managers and incur costs.  We want to make sure that when we move from a manager that there is a reason why we do so, whether it is because they are deviating from their investment requirement -- and some of these managers are active and some of them are inactive.  By inactive, they follow the market.  They will follow a fund.


So what we're looking really at is the performance of the active managers.  So actually, it is a smaller portion of the 22 that we actually look at.


So we have replaced a fair number this year.


MS. LEA:  And were all of those replacements due to poor performance?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Poor performance, or because they were -- a number of reasons why we might replace an investment manager; change in staff, poor performance, unhappy with explanations as to what they're doing in terms of their funding objectives.


We go through a fairly significant due-diligence process with them on an annual basis, and we monitor their performance, certainly over a five-year period as well as over the initial periods, or more recent periods.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. STRUTHERS:  There would be a number of reasons that might drive a change in an investment manager.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.


Let's move on, then.


I have also included in the compendium at page 24 a BOMA interrogatory, Exhibit 1, tab 6, schedule 8, Exhibit 1 -- I, rather, tab 6, schedule 8.


And these -- this interrogatory shows the external revenue forecasts, and one observation -- which I think is fairly obvious -- is that the forecast is quite low compared to the actual.


If you look at 2009, the forecast was for 18.6 million, but the actual was 35.1 million.


And for 2010, the forecast was for 18 million and the actual was 32.3 million.


And you have discussed subsets of this with my friends, including, I think, Mr. Buonaguro.


But these are pretty significant percentages higher than forecast of revenues actually collected.  Doesn't this represent a windfall to Hydro One?


MR. FRASER:  The amounts in 2009 and 2010 are going into a variance account.  So there wouldn't be a windfall.


I think in BOMA -- in a response to BOMA I-6-7 part (b), we have a commentary on the view going forward and some of the reasons why those kinds of amounts would not be expected to recur.


MS. LEA:  Can you briefly explain those reasons?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


We are focussing more on our core business.  So with that reason, we are trying to reduce our amounts, for example, of station maintenance work that we do for OPG and Bruce Power.


That is high-margin work, and so if you look at the 2011 and 2012 forecasts in I-6-7, you will see that the forecast is -- the margins that we're forecasting are fairly small.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, I would like to move into some cross-examination with respect to a confidential exhibit, and the confidential exhibit I would like to ask questions about is KX2.6.


It is my hope that I can ask the questions without actually referring to numbers, and I would ask for my friend's help in ensuring that I don't cross any lines here.


So I wonder -- and of course, this is not included in the compendium because it is a confidential exhibit, so I wonder if people could actually turn up KX2.6.  I think you will need to be looking at it because I won't be calling out any numbers.


And the questions I have relate to dividends.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Can you explain to me just a little bit about dividends in the context of Hydro One?


When you pay dividends, I gather these are annual.  Are the payments made to the shareholder?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The payments are made to the shareholder, and they are determined annually, yes.


MS. LEA:  And that goes to the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation, I presume?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not sure which part of the Ontario government it goes to.  I just know we make the payments, but I believe it is to OEFC.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, who decides when dividends are paid and how much are going to be paid?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be a decision of the Board, with management's recommendation.


When we decide what the amount of the dividends is going to be, we look at the required rate base for the company, so what equity portion -- what amount of equity we need, and therefore what we need to retain in terms of income in retained earnings, to ensure that we have the right structure.


So we manage the dividends and the amount of the dividends that we pay out in order to manage the corporate structure of the business, so 60/40.


So when you look at the number in 2011, that relates only to preferred dividends, not to anything else.


MS. LEA:  Can you tell me what page you are looking at when you refer to the number in 2011?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Page 2.


MS. LEA:  I hope I am not being unintelligent, but I heard your explanation.  I just need to understand a little bit better how dividends declared vary with the return on equity that you have.


Do they vary with the return on equity that is allowed by the Board, or with the actual ROE that you receive?


How does it all fit together, please?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So I will refer to that schedule, but not give any numbers.


But if you look at the debt ratios on that particular page, you can see that the debt ratios are being managed at a number?


MS. LEA: Yes?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What we're doing is we're adjusting the dividends to be able to manage that debt ratio.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So there is a change, a significant change between 2011 and 2012.  Is it your evidence, then, that this is also being driven by debt ratio?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We would be managing the debt ratio, yes, but you also have to look at the other components of the business.  But primarily in that year, it is managing the debt ratio.


So prior to that, effectively what is happening is the shareholders are reinvesting in the company.


MS. LEA:  I am trying to craft a question without reference to any numbers.


So what is it about 2012, if you can tell us and maintain confidentiality -- don't answer if you cannot -- what is it about 2012, the debt ratio, the need to manage it, that makes the number so different from 2011?


Can you help us there?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't think I can do it without referring to -- I can't do it in a non-confidential way.


MS. LEA:  I understand.  One moment.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would a confidential undertaking...


MS. LEA:  That may be the answer, sir.


If it would assist the Board to understand the reasons behind these fairly large differences, then I think a confidential undertaking would be the way to go with respect to this.


So I wonder if we could do that, then.  That would be JX7.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. JX7.3:  to EXPLAIN MAIN DRIVERS BETWEEN DIFFERENCE IN NUMBERS IN 2011 AND 2012 FOR DIVIDEND AMOUNTS.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And the undertaking is specifically what?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Well, I am going to get to that, and then a follow-up question, which may also require some assistance.


So the Undertaking JX7.3 would be to explain the main drivers between the difference in the numbers in 2011 and 2012 for the dividend amounts.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we can do that.


MS. LEA:  And we understand that managing the debt ratio is part of it, so go further, please, than that simple answer.


Now, is it of concern, are these dividend amounts and the variability in them of concern to the shareholder, in the sense that the shareholder expects a certain level of dividend in the way that a shareholder might expect a certain level of ROE when you are -- when you are a regulated entity?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think the -- I am now talking on behalf of the shareholder, but I think the shareholder is more concerned about ensuring that the company is properly funded, and, therefore, has the correct structure from a rate perspective, that it can undertake the capital program that is required.


This is effectively a way of reinvesting in the company.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder if we could look at page 10 of this same document, KX2.6.  And it is a very similar question to the one you just undertook to provide in confidence, and that is an explanation of the variability in the dividend amounts, say, between 2013 and 2019 that are listed here.


It may be that the explanation is exactly the same as you are going to provide for the confidential undertaking.  Would that be true?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I suspect that the answer will be somewhat similar, yes.


MS. LEA:  Could you please include that, then, in the confidential undertaking, and just say if it is the same, or, if it is different, explain the reasons?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we can do that.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.


Those are my questions with respect to dividends.


A couple of more matters, please.


Another question that was assigned to you from a previous panel -- sir, I have probably ten minutes more of examination.  I wasn't sure when you wanted to take a break this afternoon.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is the last cross-examination for this panel.  You have redirect, to some extent, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Very slight.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And is the next panel available?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So why don't you finish, Ms. Lea, and then we will take a break and switch panels and go from there.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.


All right.  So panel 1 said that you gentlemen would help us with -- well, specifically I think it was Mr. Struthers -- would help us with Interrogatory No. 4 from Board Staff.  And this has to do with outsourcing.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Oh, yes.  They perhaps misspoke, but certainly I can try.


MS. LEA:  Or I don't know.  Ms. Vines, I am excluding you from that, because you weren't mentioned specifically, but Mr. Struthers was.


MS. VINES:  So I'm being excluded.


MS. LEA:  Certainly feel free.  So this is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 4.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  And we asked about the total savings from outsourcing that was given in your prefiled evidence, and your reply in this interrogatory indicated that the table does not indicate outsourcing saving, but only the total dollars of outsourced work; in other words, the table in the prefiled evidence.


When you the outsource work, do you do a calculation of the savings that this outsourcing will achieve over doing the work in-house?


MR. STRUTHERS:  This is actually primarily to do with construction work, so -- which is -- it seems a little strange that I would answer it, but...


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The way that they look at it is when they have a project, they look at the project from the point of view of whether they have the skill sets to do the work.  For example, if we have a projection and control project, do we have enough protection and control staff to be able to do the work, or does it make sense to have a third party do it?


So, for example, on the static VAR compensators -- I think they're compensators.  We refer to them as SVCs.  The SVC work, what we have done is packaged that as a total product, put it out to tender and got tender bids back on doing that work.  The reason we did that -- and that is outsource work.


The reason we did that is because we didn't have the capacity to do it, because they can do the testing before they ship it to our onsite location.  They are responsible for making sure the whole thing works from beginning to end, and they're responsible for ensuring that all of the pieces are there.


So there is a savings from that perspective, from the point of view that we would have to bring in staff, obtain that knowledge, have their staff on site, have our staff on site.  So there is replications.


So we do look at it from what makes sense to best do from the point of view of, Do we have the skill sets?  Can this be done as a turnkey operation?  What are the risks that we are assuming versus the risks that the vendor would assume, and what is the -- if we go to market, what potentially is -- if we go through a competitive market, what is potentially the price, theoretical price savings?


It is difficult to sit there and say, yes, we have X number of dollars in terms of percentage savings, but the answer is, yes, there is a percentage savings, because we are not hiring people to do the work, and then keeping them on forever or retaining them.  They are just there for a period of time.


So in certain circumstances, particularly where we don't necessarily have the skill sets or it is a new piece of equipment or it is an end-to-end delivery, then it makes sense to outsource that work.


So there are savings associated it.  As I say, we don't have to buy those services, and then keep them.


MS. LEA:  Do I take it from your answer that you cannot provide us with quantification which is --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think we can probably give you a rough estimate as to what the potential savings might be against that.  But we are eyeballing it.  We can certainly give you that sort of eyeball number, if that is of use to you.


MS. LEA:  I think an estimate would be useful.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay, then, yes.  Fine.  I will take that as an undertaking.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  J7.4, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.4:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF TOTAL SAVINGS FROM OUTSOURCING.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And my last series of questions deals with IFRS.  Mr. Fraser, I wonder if you could have a look, please, at Board Staff Interrogatory No. 19.  I should note for parties that I did provide the Accounting Standards Board's decision summary at pages 27 and following of the compendium.  And just to make sure everybody got it, I gave you ten copies, quite inadvertently.


My instructions were not particularly clear, I think, with respect to this compendium, which was done in haste.


So Board Staff Interrogatory No. 19 occurs at page 65 of the compendium, and I would like to understand a couple of things.  At page 2 of that response, at lines 19 through 22, you indicate that the impact was still in progress at the time of filing - that is, the impact of IFRS - and this assessment is still ongoing.  Have you any update for us?


MR. FRASER:  Not numerical.  We are in the process of -- at the fine-tuning stage on the 200 million.


We are still having discussions with our auditors, but they are somewhat intermittent because of the fact there is so much uncertainty in terms of the date of IFRS, and there has been some distraction with the recent activities of the ISB, as well as the Accounting Standards Board in Canada.


So we have been focussing more on the strategic issue.  I would say there is probably very little change to the 200 million coming, and, again,it would be really refinements, and I don't even know for sure what those refinements would be I would be very surprised if it was -- it was more than in terms of, like, say, $5 million.


MS. LEA:  On page 3 of the interrogatory, at lines 21 through 24, you indicate that with the proposed deferral of implementation of IFRS for rate-regulated entities to 2013 - we will talk about that in a moment - the accounting that Hydro One would follow under IFRS, in the future, may be very different.


Are you just saying -- I don't understand that statement.


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  This is really focussing on the external reporting view of IFRS as opposed to the regulatory modified IFRS view of the world.  So what we are really saying is that there is major question marks in the world right now as to whether regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities will be recorded in external GAAP financial statements.


And until the ISB makes a determination on what the future of regulatory accounting in IFRS is, or unless the Accounting Standards Board does something home grown, we won't really have a view of how that is going to pan out.  As I say, the Accounting Standards Board only formalized their one-year deferral this morning, and there is still activity, lobbying.


So we really don't know on the ISB side or on the Accounting Standards Board side what the path forward is, or the timeline.


MS. LEA:  So when you spoke about the $200 million being an annual amount, the last sentence at lines 23 to 24 of that paragraph, "the impacts of adopting IFRS on Hydro One's results may change significantly", would the impact that you would be passing on to ratepayers change significantly under different scenarios?


MR. FRASER:  No, because the uncertainty in IFRS doesn't go forward to cover the overheads, accounting that is driven by International Accounting Statement 16.  And the Board, in its February 24th, '09 letter, has said they want us to, for regulatory purposes, cost our assets based on IAS 16.


So there is symmetry there, and that is not part of the uncertainty that we are facing right now.  This is really focussed on the external reporting aspects.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


Some very simplistic questions, and pardon me for that.


In this application, the figures that appear in this application, do they presume a 2013 implementation date of IFRS and an acceptance by the Board of the exceptions that you are seeking?


MR. FRASER:  The original application presumed a 2012 adoption of IFRS, and with the request that in 2012, we have the costing exception we put forward.


When we answered the interrogatories, we thought we had a two-year delay option.  So the interrogatories were answered with the view that the IFRS issue would fall out of the scope of the hearing and become a 2013 issue.


With the passage of a one-year delay by the Accounting Standards Board, we are back into 2012 again.


MS. LEA:  So please direct me to the prefiled evidence so that we know exactly where to go when we have your most current request, please.  Where are the numbers that appear there?


MR. FRASER:  The numbers weren't available at the time of the original application.  So --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. FRASER:  -- if you are looking for the impact, you are in the right place in the interrogatories.  That would be I-1-19 and I-1-20 for the revenue requirement impact and rate impact, and those numbers are still valid.


MS. LEA:  Despite the change in the date of implementation?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. FRASER:  Because those numbers were focussed on 2012.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. FRASER:  The conceptual positioning of the application, I think we are back to where the prefiled evidence was, and that would be A-11-3, but we are back there for the wrong reasons.


So as I have just mentioned to you, we have sort of moved full-circle.  So we have gone from 2012 IFRS, 2013, and then back to 2012 again.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


So this $200 million impact that now may occur in 2012, if in fact implementation occurs January 1, 2012, what are you proposing that -- are you proposing that be recovered in 2012?  Or are --


MR. FRASER:  What we had proposed at the date of the original application, when we didn't have a number, and the number was actually thought to be even bigger at that point -- we have mitigated it somewhat since then, through active discussions with the external auditor -- was that we would seek a limited exception -- limited time exception, although we didn't define an end point, to continue to cost our assets based on CGAAP.


As I have mentioned, though, we are also leaving it to the Board to determine whether that makes sense, or whether it would be more appropriate to put the impacts into a variance account and dispose of those over some future period.


And also for how long that treatment would go on.  Obviously, only 2012 falls within the scope of the hearing, but as I mentioned, this is going to be an annual issue that we are going to have to deal with.


MS. LEA:  So your request is, in the alternative, then:  Please, Board, give us the costing exception for 2012, and if you are not prepared to do that, we recommend that you put the impact of this into a deferral account for future disposition?


MR. FRASER:  That's right.  That would be really to avoid increasing rates by approximately 15 percent, given the current concerns about impacts on ratepayers.


Again, just an accounting change.


MS. LEA:  But would there ever be an offset in that account that would -- I mean, are we always going to be looking at that 200 million coming back to eventually be collected?  There won't be an offset, will there?


MR. FRASER:  No, there won't.  It is a permanent change.  It is basically a permanent step in the revenue requirement, moving from CGAAP to IFRS.


There will be a crossover in rates at some future time.  I would suggest to you it will be a lengthy period until the depreciation impact in the lesser capitalization and also the rate-of-return impact on the lesser capitalization starts to offset that.


We haven't done the analysis to see where that crossover is.  I am not even sure we can do that at this point in time, but --


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. FRASER:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  In the Board's Report on IFRS, the Board suggested that utilities make a proposal for rate mitigation, if the impact is material and mitigation appears to be required.


And I would suggest to you that this impact is material, whether it is recovered through this year or later.  And I wonder what mitigation measures you have undertaken, and specifically I am looking for changes in your business practice, or anything that really mitigates this impact for us.


MR. FRASER:  Well, as I mentioned to you, we have mitigated it from the date of the application when we were expecting far larger numbers.


You may question whether discussions with the external auditor and putting forward compelling arguments on the classification of costs is mitigating, but it has had the effect of mitigating the amount that moved from capital to OM&A.


In terms of --


MS. LEA:  About how much?


MR. FRASER:  Well, again, I -- I could go through that, actually.  I have that, if you want it.  But it's -- I would have to go through by element.


MS. LEA:  I think that my point is that 200 million still sounds like a lot.  And I --


MR. FRASER:  It is, and it was significantly more before.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Well, can you not mitigate through changing business practices, for example, with respect to some of these capitalization problems?


MR. FRASER:  A common misconception is that going to time-sheeting, for example, will allow overheads to be capitalized where they otherwise couldn't, and I think that is a bit of a misconception.


The issue, as I mentioned earlier, is the relationship with the -- between the cost, whether it be an indirect cost in terms of an element of a standard rate, or is it an overhead function like a manager or a trainer, or a health and safety expert -- the relationship between that person and a specific asset, versus a program.


So the difficulty is that even if you go to something like time-sheeting or change your business processes and practices, you still have to be able to achieve a specific relationship with that cost, with a specific asset.


And because there is a causal relationship and a beneficial relationship between a lot of these costs and the capital program, you can't capitalize those costs under IFRS unless you can relate them to a specific asset.


And time-sheeting, for example, won't help with that.  And changes in business processes won't help with that.


We are looking at business process changes in certain areas where we think we may be able to mitigate in future, but that is not going to happen within the scope of this hearing.


For example, our P-cards expenditures, we can put some mitigating business process changes in that will allow us to more specifically identify expenditures with specific capital assets.  That is a significant effort.


And given all of the uncertainty about the date that IFRS will actually come in, we don't expect that to be available within the 2011-2012 period.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Thank you very much, Ms. Vines, Mr. Struthers, Mr. Fraser.  Thank you.


I should probably ask for an exhibit number or give an exhibit number to this compendium, because it does contain the Accounting Board document.


So that would be K7.5 please, so the compendium from Board Staff, K7.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K7.5:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM.


MS. LEA:  That completes my questions.


Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


Mr. Rogers?

Re-Examination by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you.  Just one question.


Mr. Struthers, I think this is for you.


Mr. Thompson is not here this afternoon, but he was dealing this morning with this slide.  I think it was KX7.1.  Do you recall the slide dealing with the comparison of the total monthly impact to customers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  It is the bar graphs.


MR. ROGERS:  That's right, the bar graphs.


He was asking you to compare the revised number for 2009 with some figures that he was putting to you.  Do you remember that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I recall that.


MR. ROGERS:  And I think there may have been a bit of a disconnect there.


You indicated that the figure in the most recent update on this bar graph for 2009 was $138.07?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is a before-HST tax number, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, that is what I wanted to ask you about.  I don't remember whether that was made clear this morning or not.


But just explain that to me, so that Mr. Thompson can understand the comparison, would you?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Right.


So the numbers in that graph are before -- we hadn't put HST in there.  So I think what he may have been talking about, and I probably didn't fully understand, I think he was talking about numbers with HST built in.


And they're not comparable.  That slide with the graphs doesn't have HST in it.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  So I just wanted that to be clear so that my friend wouldn't be under a misapprehension.


Thank you very much.

Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rogers, I just have a question for your client.  Obviously, if it leads to anything else that you want to circle back on...


Ms. Lea took you through the 200 million impact of capitalization and the move to IFRS.  If the Board is to contemplate the establishment -- well, you provided a costing exemption option, and now you are also suggesting that a deferral account may be acceptable.


I am just wondering how firm the $200 million is, as to whether or not a variance account may be another option, a way of dealing with that, and if you could speak to how confident you are in the $200 million to tie revenue requirement around that and defer that as opposed to a variance account?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.  I think the $200 million isn't completely solid at the moment, but we would -- I think we would be -- we would accept a variance account.  Actually, when I said deferral account, I use the words interchangeably, which is sort of undisciplined of me.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No problem.


MR. FRASER:  I don't think we would have a problem with the variance account treatment.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  That's all.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro is motioning.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That was a real twitch.


[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  I was wondering if I could ask one mathematical question just so I understand the IFRS and the $200 million.  It would take ten seconds.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just to confirm, if you get deferral account treatment and the estimated impact turns out to be about -- and the real impact turns out to be $200 million as a result of the switch to IFRS, my understanding is that in 2013, and assuming the deferral account and the two exceptions continue into 2013, you would add another $200 million to the deferral account?


MR. FRASER:  That's correct.  It would be an annual impact.  So the Board would have to determine at what point -- presumably that deferral account treatment wouldn't go on in perpetuity.  So at some point, there will have to be an orderly weaning off that deferral account, as I would put it.  And I am not sure at what point that would happen.


But we are faced with this issue, given the accounting changes coming out of IFRS and given the Board's letter of February 24th, 2009 to do asset costing based on pure IFRS with no exceptions, unless an exception is granted, which is what we have requested.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That was my question.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There are no further questions from the Board Panel.  Anything arising from Mr. Quesnelle's question?


MR. ROGERS:  No, thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This panel is therefore excused.  Thank you very much for your assistance.   It has been very helpful.  The Board will take 15 minutes to reconvene at quarter to 4:00, and we will commence with panel number 5.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 3:31 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:53 p.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.


We have a panel to be sworn


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we do, sir.  I have panel 5 empanelled.  And could they be sworn, please?

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 5: AMPCO HIGH 5 PROPOSAL


^ Mitchell Rothman, Affirmed.


John Dalton, Sworn.


Robert C. Yardley, Jr., Affirmed.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  While the witnesses are being sworn, Mr. Crocker, the Board accedes your request, so that your cross-examination will follow Ms. Lea's.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  May I just introduce the panel to the Board?


Could we start with you, Mr. Yardley?


I understand, sir, that you are an executive advisor with the PA Consulting company?


MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have provided to us a curriculum vitae, which has been filed in these proceedings as Exhibit A, 19-1, attachment 2, page 1 of attachment 2.


Is this an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience, Mr. Yardley?


MR. YARDLEY:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  I see from your CV -- and I won't spend much time on this, we can all read it -- but I see that you have a degree in economics from Georgetown University in 1976?


MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And that you took -- completed most of a Ph.D. program in economics at Boston College, but did not complete your dissertation?


MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct, as well.


MR. ROGERS:  I see from your curriculum vitae that you have been involved in the consulting business for many years, starting in 1980 with Stone & Webster?


MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You worked for RJ Rudden Associates from 1984 to 1988?


MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  The Reed Consulting Group thereafter?


MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I see, as well, that you were chairman of the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities from 1991 to 1992?


MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And that you have worked for other consulting firms, including Navigant, and are presently an independent consultant with the PA Consulting Group.


MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  With affiliations with PA, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You're affiliated with PA?


In that capacity, I understand that you helped prepare the report dated July 6th, 2010, which is an assessment of AMPCO's High Five proposal.  Is that correct, sir?


MR. YARDLEY:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Dalton, your CV has been filed here as attachment 3 of that same exhibit, I believe.


MR. DALTON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And it is an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience, sir?


MR. DALTON:  It is.


MR. ROGERS:  I note from your curriculum vitae that you have a degree in economics from Brown University, in the United States?


MR. DALTON:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  And a MBA from Boston University in 1987?


MR. DALTON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You are presently the president of Power Advisory LLC?


MR. DALTON:  Yes, I am.


MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, in your CV, I see you have had a good deal of experience in the consulting business, dealing with energy and electricity matters.


You worked for the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection from 1981 to 1984?


MR. DALTON:  Yes, I did.


MR. ROGERS:  Then worked with the RJ Rudden Associates Inc. in '87 and '88?


MR. DALTON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  That's a firm that we are familiar with here.


Then with the Reed Consultant Group, and then, again, with Navigant Consulting, as did your colleague?


MR. DALTON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You've been a senior electricity market analyst and policy consultant for over 20 years, I do believe?


MR. DALTON:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  You, sir, were also involved in the preparation of Exhibit H-1-3-1, which is the report assessing AMPCO's High Five^ proposal, which we are about to discuss?


MR. DALTON:  Yes, I was.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Can I deal with your associate to your left, Mr. Rothman?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You are presently a managing consultant, as I understand it, in Power Advisory's Toronto office?


MR. ROTHMAN:  I am.


MR. ROGERS:  I see from your curriculum vitae that you have a bachelors degree in economics from Harvard University?


MR. ROTHMAN:  I do.


MR. ROGERS:  That you hold a masters degree in economics from Carnegie-Mellon?


MR. ROTHMAN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And also a Ph.D. from Carnegie-Mellon, achieved in 1971?


MR. ROTHMAN:  No, that's not correct.


Just a couple of quick corrections.


The master of science is in industrial administration, with a focus on economics, and I was in the Ph.D. program, and like Mr. Yardley, didn't complete my dissertation.  So I finished the qualifications, but did not -- do not have a Ph.D degree.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Mr. Rothman.  I'm sorry.


It is clear from the CV, when you look at it carefully, that that is the case.


This CV of yours has been filed as A-19-1, attachment 1, and it is a fair summary of your qualifications and experience, sir?


MR. ROTHMAN:  It is.


MR. ROGERS:  I see here that you have quite proud experience for over 25 years dealing with electricity issues?


MR. ROTHMAN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have, among other things, you were employed early on with the faculty of administrative studies with York University?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And then, among other companies, the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I know when we met today, we recalled that we met each other many years ago when you were chief economist with Ontario Hydro?


MR. ROTHMAN:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  You have also held a post with Acres International Limited, an international consulting firm?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And the rest of your consultant experience is set out in your CV?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, perhaps I can do this this way.


You were involved in the preparation of the report that we are about to discuss, as well, then, were you, sir?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes I was.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Dalton, maybe you could, as the president of the company, confirm for us that the report, assessment of AMPCO's High Five proposal for establishing network charge determinants, filed as Exhibit H-1-3-1, attachment 1, was prepared under the direction and supervision of you and your two colleagues?


MR. DALTON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And this sets out accurately your -- the work that you did in analyzing the proposal and your conclusions, as I understand it?


MR. DALTON:  Yes, it does.


MR. ROGERS:  I am not going to spend much time on this.  It is there to be read, and there is an excellent executive summary, I see here, that sets out the key highlights of your report?


MR. DALTON:  I believe that is the case.


MR. ROGERS:  You were retained by my client, Hydro One, to conduct this assessment pursuant to a Board Direction in the last case, as I understand it; is that correct?


MR. DALTON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And when you were retained, your company was retained, did my clients put any pressure on you of any kind whatsoever as to how they wanted the report to come out?


MR. CROCKER:  Well, I don't know whether -- this is a fairly important issue.  I don't think my friend should lead, with all due respect.


MR. ROGERS:  That's not leading.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am going to allow the question, Mr. Crocker.  I think it puts the issue -- you will be perfectly free to challenge the outcome any way you wish to.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


Can you just help us as to what the flavour of your retainer was, please?


MR. DALTON:  Sure.


We were engaged to provide our expert advice regarding the specific subject matter, and I think that that is what we have delivered.


MR. ROGERS:  And did Hydro One exert any influence on you to tilt you in any one direction or the other?


MR. DALTON:  No.


MR. ROGERS:  As part of your work, did you consult with some of the stakeholders involved in this issue?


MR. DALTON:  A limited number, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  For example, did you meet with representatives of AMPCO?


MR. DALTON:  Yes, we did.


MR. ROGERS:  During the course of the preparation of your report?


MR. DALTON:  Yes.  To better understand the study that they had performed.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.


And you and your colleagues will be prepared to answer questions about the work that you did and the conclusions that you came to, which are set out accurately in your report of July 6th, 2010?


MR. DALTON:  Yes, we are.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much, Mr. Dalton.  Those are my questions.


Thank you, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, let me indicate that we will go to 4:30 sharp.  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That was my first question.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


And I make a point of telling you that, because I think you refer to our organization a number of times in terms of our submissions that we made in the previous decision.  We're also referred to as VECC.  So that is us.


I am going to dive right with respect to some of the specifics of the report, in terms of maybe things you want to have clarified or things that we may -- well, that we wanted to check.


And I will give you the issues that I am dealing with before I go to the questions.  So, for example, I am going to start with your calculation of base prices for the purposes of load shifting determination, and starting at page 48 of the report.


I will tell you I am using the audio-visuals -- or the visual system here, so I am going to pull up my references on the computer so you can see them, and then if you want to refer to your original material, by all means, feel free.


So starting on page 48 under section 3.3, it is called "Calculating Demand Reduction".  And my understanding is that in this section, you calculate the likely demand reductions in various industrial sectors based on the range of elasticities of substitution established in section 3.25 of your report.  Is that correct?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And as I understand it, to do so, you have to estimate the change in price in the peak period, which involves, as a first step, establishing the base or current price for the price for electricity in the peak period; correct?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, going over the page, table 11 starts on this page, but the actual table is on the next page, page 49.  And I will increase it here.


So this is page 49 of your report.  We can see here that your base price consists of four components, the HOEP or hourly Ontario energy price, the global adjustment, the DRC/WMSC charges and the current shadow price for transmission, and that when you total all of these together, you get a base price of $105.28 per megawatt-hour.  Is that --


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, that's what we got.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am going to go to an interrogatory response that you gave to one of our interrogatories.  This is Exhibit I, tab 4, 68.  Again, I will pull it up on the screen for you, and I am going to be starting in particular with part (f), which is page 2.


So, again, it is I-4-68, page 2.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So in part (f) you show the details of your shift calculation, and I am going to make it bigger here so we can all see it.


Here you showed the base peak period price of the $105, which I think is pulled from a table 11 earlier on in your evidence; is that correct?  I think it is right here.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, that's right.  It is the base -- the total base price that is at the end of table 11.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So what I have just highlighted here where it says "Avg. Price - Base", 105, that is the same $105 that we saw in table 11?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  You also show a revised price under the High 5 proposal of $516, right there.  (Indicating).


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Average price, treatment case?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I was a little unclear as to how you came up with this, and I will tell you why.


If you go back to table 11 and replace the current transmission shadow price of 8.50 with the high value of $411.20 value from table 3 of your report -- so this is getting a little complicated, but...


So we take that 8.50 --


MR. ROTHMAN:  I'm sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We take the 8.50 down here and replace it with 411.20 on table 3, so if you  -- I will pull up table 3 so you know where I am talking about.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Oh.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 34.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  Yes.  That is the -- the 411.20 is the shadow price that is on the next -- it is on -- well, that's from the executive summary, but if you just turn over the page, I suppose this electronic stuff doesn't do it as easily, but if you just bear with an old --


MR. BUONAGURO:  You can tell me what page and I can do it.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Just turn over the page from page 49 to 50 and you will see table 12, which also has the High 5 shadow prices, and there you will see the shadow price is 411.20 for the high case.


So the 516 that you see here for the average price for the treatment case is simply the $105 plus the $411.00.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that gets you 516?


MR. ROTHMAN:  And that gets me 516.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you, because the end of that line of questioning is:  How did you get 516?  And you have just answered that for me.  Thank you very much.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Remember, this is an example, and I am just using here an example for the high case.  The calculation goes the same for all of the other cases.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROTHMAN:  And we are not -- this is a calculation where, as you will see in the formula, that this formula uses the ratio of prices, not the delta.


So we use the ratio of the peak price to the off-peak price or the ratio of the new price to the base price, rather than the delta between.  So that is why we have this as the new treatment case price.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


I am going to go back to page 48, and in the middle of the page you talk about two things.  I have highlighted it there.  You talk about two things, two transmission shadow price calculations, and you describe how on -- yielding the $8.50 used in the analysis, and the second calculation yielding $102 per megawatt-hour, which would apply if the customer's network charge was based on coincident demand.  Do you see that?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In VECC number 68(h) -- so this is page 3 of the same interrogatory, I think, that we were just looking at.  We asked that you redo the demand shift calculation using this shadow price, and your response is set out here.


We asked you to redo the shadow price -- sorry, the demand shift calculation using the 102 that I just referred to you on page 48, and this is the response.


And if you look at the response and compare it with the table in the report, we noted that you replaced the initial $105 with a value of $102.


MR. ROTHMAN:  I'm sorry, give me a minute to turn this all up.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Okay.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ROTHMAN:  Okay.  All right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So what we have is here you're using 102.80, whereas elsewhere there is a $105 price.  The problem we are having in understanding this is that the $105 was the full base price including not only the shadow transmission price, but also the HOEP, global adjustment and the DRC/WMSC.  That is from table 11.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Whereas the $102 used in this response is only the new transmission shadow price.  By our calculation, if you were to use the High 5 -- sorry, if you were to calculate the High 5 price using the $105 shadow price, it would be 199.58 per megawatt-hour.


So the question is:  Would it have been more appropriate in doing this calculation to use the 105, which -- 105 price, which would then have driven up the price to the conclusion, $199.58?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, I think you are right.  I think that should have happened is that on page -- as you said, on page 49, that table 11, instead of the 8.50, that number should have been 102.80.


So the base price should have increased by the difference between 102.80 and 8.50, whatever that is, and that that would then have made this implicit base price higher.  You said 199 or something like that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, 199.58 is our calculation.


MR. ROTHMAN:  It could come out that way.  I would have to check it, but...


And that would presumably reduce these demand shift calculations.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, that was my next question.  Have you been talking to my consultant?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Well, sometimes I do, but not at this point.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Not at this point?  Thank you.


So based on that discussion, would it be a lot of work to file a revised response to part (h)?  So I will pull that up again to make those changes?


MR. ROGERS:  I think that would be appropriate, if it can be done relatively easy, I assume.


MR. ROTHMAN:  I think that can be done quite easily.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.


MS. LEA:  J7.5, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.5:  to PROVIDE REVISED RESPONSE TO VECC INTERROGATORY NO. 68(H).


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, going back to, again, table 11, in your report -- and looking briefly at the global adjustment value that you use -- you used $3.47.  Do you see that?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In response to VECC 68(d) -- so again the same interrogatory response, but now part (d), and I have highlighted the response here -- we asked you about -- we asked you about the global adjustment, and you indicated that the source of the $3.47 that you used in your calculation was the average value for the June, July, August of 2008?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The average global adjustment?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In the same response, you noted that the average value for the global adjustment for all of 2009 was $30.56, which I believe is nearly 10 times higher than what you used in your calculation?


MR. ROTHMAN:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we reviewed your CV, and we understand from your CV you would be pretty familiar with the regulated price plan?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I sent you the last report and a particular page reference.


I don't think we need it to go on the record, but I think you would, having reviewed the reference at I-I-I (sic) of that, that the most recent report, most recent regulated price plan report, which is dated April 2010, includes a forecast for the global adjustment of $27.72 per megawatt-hour?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And that is for the period May 1st, 2010 to April 31st, 2011?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, is it fair to say that if a higher value for the global adjustment was used in your determination of the base price at table 11, and the price under the High Five proposal, that the percentage price change calculation would be less and the demand shift would also be less?


MR. ROTHMAN:  What we would -- no.  If you look at the -- if you look at the RPP that you have, the statement that you have there, it shows a $39.51 HOEP, in effect.  That is a low-weighted HOEP.  That is not -- that is low-weighted for consumers.  So that is going to be a little bit above what the IESO's average HOEP would be for that period.


But take the 39.51 and add 27.72, and you've got something like $67 dollars, right?  $77, sorry.


And we go back -- if you go back to the table that you are referring to, I've got average peak HOEP of $80, plus GA of $3, three and a half, so you have an average of those two total to 83 and a half.


So you are in the same ballpark, because both of those components go into the base price that was used for this calculation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So you are saying that even though the last forecast is much higher, i.e., close to $30, there would --


MR. ROTHMAN:  Of the GA, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  There would be an inverse relationship on the HOEP?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.


MR. ROTHMAN:  So every time you update a table like this and use data from a different time frame, you will get slightly different answers, but --


MR. BUONAGURO:  That is very helpful, because you are saying that, yes, the global adjustment now is much higher, but there is a relationship --


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- that for analysis purposes, means that you don't have to worry about that?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Well, I wouldn't quite say you don't have to worry about that, but as I said, the general -- you're not going to have -- we don't see big differences between what that base price would be, given the total of the GA and HOEP.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So for example, if I were to ask you to redo the table 11 calculation and then flow it through to your analysis based on an updated global adjustment figure, you would say:  Well, I can only do that if I update the -- that would only be fair if I updated the HOEP price that goes along with that new global adjustment figure?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Of course, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  In that case, I won't ask you to do that.  Thank you very much for the answer.


I am going to move to a slightly different topic, and this is the impact of load shift on the HOEP.  And this is a short one.


I am going to look at Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 69.  Part (d), so this is the next interrogatory in the series.


And here we asked whether the change in HOEP and the resulting calculations regarding the overall commodity cost changes would be impacted if the load was shifted to hours other than the particular off-peak hours assumed by Power Advisory.


And your response -- and I have highlighted it here at the bottom -- you said that some analysis –- sorry, I will read it:

"Power Advisory initiated the analysis required to answer this question, but has been unable to complete it in the time available."


And my simple question is whether you were able to complete the analysis since the interrogatory was filed, whether you continue to try and do it.


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. ROTHMAN:  We did complete that analysis.  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you know what the next question is going to be.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  I know what I expect it to be, but yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  What were the results of that analysis?


MR. ROTHMAN:  I don't have them with me.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  We can get them by way of undertaking, then?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  J7.6, please.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.6:  to PROVIDE RESULTS OF POWER ADVISORY ANALYSIS AFTER FILING OF INTERROGATORY.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I am now going to start asking you a few questions which talks about your analysis in comparison with Dr. Sen's elasticity estimates in the AMPCO evidence.  Okay?


And I am referring now to table 10 of your report, which is at 47, page 47.


And here you present the range of elasticity values that are used in your analysis for each industrial sector; is that correct?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And in terms of the analysis presented by AMPCO in the previous hearing -- which I understand you have obviously reviewed -- do the ranges you have here capture the elasticity estimates put forward by AMPCO for each sector?


MR. ROTHMAN:  We can't really tell, because these are different elasticities.  These are elasticities of substitution, rather than our own price elasticities.


The elasticities that AMPCO calculated are own-price elasticities and lagged-price elasticities.


And the range here, these elasticities are mostly lower, I think, mostly lower -- well, our pulp and paper elasticity is lower by quite a bit than the -- and that is the -- by far, the highest own-price elasticity that AMPCO calculated.


So our -- their estimates are in the range of 0.2.  Ours -- this elasticity substitution is around 0.07.


The metal mining, ours is 0.1 and theirs is about 0.04, 0.02.  The iron, ours is -- in the iron and steel industry, ours is about 0.12.  Theirs is minus 0.04, 0.03.


And then the motor vehicles and petroleum industries, motor vehicle and petroleum refining industries we all agree are not very elastic and we get kind of contradictory results out of both of those.  They find positive own-price elasticities.


So we sort of -- have sort of not really looked at that comparison.  But what is important here, I think, is that the way that these elasticities are applied is with a different formula.


So that you use -- the resulting amounts of shift will be different with these elasticities of substitution than they are with the AMPCO own-price elasticities.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROTHMAN:  So the relevant comparison would be to how much -- what the load shift is with our computation of what the load shift would be using own-price elasticities.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am going to try to summarize my understanding, because I haven't shown you my CV, but there is a lot of things on your CV that I don't have.  But I am going to try and understand just sort of the nature of the difference between the two types of evidence.


So I think what you are saying, in part, is that not only is there maybe a potentially difference in degree of elasticity, but also kind.  Like, you are actually, to a certain degree, apples and oranges when you talk about elasticities and what you have used.  Is that part of what you are telling me?


MR. ROTHMAN:  To a certain degree, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're saying the important thing is that, at the end of the day, the output of your formula are both trying to capture the same, I guess, behaviour and they're comparable in that end; is that fair?


MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, I was going to ask you, then, the same question with respect to the updated evidence that AMPCO filed or that Dr. Sen filed through AMPCO, but I would think that you would have the same type of answer, or did they change the kind to match your kind?


MR. ROTHMAN:  No.  They're still estimating own-price elasticities.


And, remember, we did not do any elasticity estimates.  The elasticity estimates that are in this table 10 are all taken from an elasticity estimate made in the early '90s.


And the reason, quite legitimate reason, that AMPCO can't do elasticities of substitution, as they point out in their report, is that really to do an estimate of elasticity of substitution, you need individual firm data.


Now, in the early '90s, those estimates were made by analysts within Ontario Hydro, and they had individual firm data.  You can't get it anymore, for good reasons.  And so AMPCO is doing own-price elasticities.


They have -- so the new estimates they filed, they have produced really three new sets of elasticity estimates using different methodologies from -- somewhat different methodologies from those of their original submission, but they're still estimates of own-price elasticity.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that explanation.


MR. ROTHMAN:  Now, I don't have a law degree on my CV either, so...


MR. BUONAGURO:  You don't need one.  Don't worry about it.  We are at 4:29.  I thought that might be a good place to break.

Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Is there anything to deal with before we adjourn for the day?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I have one thing, Mr. Sommerville, if I could.  I anticipate we will be through this panel tomorrow morning, I would hope.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  That means panel 6 would be next.  Now, panel 6 is kind of an odd panel.  It is a hybrid really of Hydro One witnesses and some IESO witnesses.


And I understand that the IESO witnesses, who we thought would be here tomorrow, cannot come until Monday.  So my proposal is that we would call our witnesses, Mr. Andre and Mr. But to deal with load forecast and cost allocation and rate design, which is really quite distinct from the other topic for that panel, the export transmission service, and then we could deal with that separately on Monday.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That sounds appropriate.  Any comment on that proposition?


MS. LEA:  I discussed this briefly with my friends.  We don't have any problem with that.


In fact, Mr. Buonaguro was kind enough to point out that he is volunteering to go first with panel 6 and has quite a bit of questioning for those very Hydro One witnesses.  So the time will not be wasted, as I understand it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's good.


MR. CROCKER:  Just on the same...  Just on the same scheduling issues, the AMPCO evidence is -- that people will be here Tuesday to give that evidence.  So it sort of falls in line.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  Anything further?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just don't want to promise too much on the first three parts of panel 6.  I have cross, and part of the reason I volunteered to go first is because I am only here Monday, and then I am out of the province on another hearing.  So I am trying to get my panel 6 done Monday, as well as doing OPG panel 1 on Monday.  So I am trying to get it all done.


So if I can get most of it done tomorrow, then that is great, and so I am going to use the time if it is available.


MR. ROGERS:  I would expect other people to go ahead, too, sir.  The three witnesses -- or the two witnesses from Hydro One dealing with the load forecast and cost allocation and rate design are quite distinct from the export --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would be our expectation, too.  The parties who have questions for the Hydro One witnesses on those subject matters that they are going to deal with - that is, presumably other than the export tariff - will be prepared to go ahead tomorrow.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe if Board Staff could send out an e-mail letting people know that panel 6 will be sitting on certain topics tomorrow, that would be helpful.  I don't know if people who are maybe across the hall don't know.  I will go tell them.


MR. ROGERS:  We will put it on the wire.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me also indicate, with respect to argument on Monday with respect to the document that was distributed earlier today, that if parties have authorities that they want to rely upon, the earlier they can be distributed to the other parties and the Board, the better, so that we don't -- we avoid, as much as possible, surprises for Monday.


So, with that, we will adjourn until tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:31 p.m.
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